

THERSEOF A GROWING THREAT TO NATURAL RESOURCES, PEACE, DEVELOPMENT AND SECURITY ENVIRONMENTAL CRIME

A UNEP-INTERPOL RAPID RESPONSE ASSESSMENT

Nellemann, C. (Editor in Chief); Henriksen, R., Kreilhuber, A., Stewart, D., Kotsovou, M., Raxter, P., Mrema, E., and Barrat, S. (Eds). 2016. *The Rise of Environmental Crime – A Growing Threat To Natural Resources Peace, Development And Security*. A UNEP-INTERPOL Rapid Response Assessment. United Nations Environment Programme and RHIPTO Rapid Response–Norwegian Center for Global Analyses, www.rhipto.org

ISBN 978-82-690434-0-2 (print) ISBN 978-82-690434-1-9 (pdf)

Printed by UNEP

Disclaimer

The contents of this report do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of UNEP or contributory organizations. The designations employed and the presentations do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNEP or contributory organizations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, company or area or its authority, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. UNEP promotes environmentally sound practices globally and in its own activities. This publication is printed on fully recycled paper, FSC certified, post-consumer waste and chlorinefree. Inks are vegetable-based and coatings are waterbased. UNEP's distribution policy aims to reduce its carbon footprint.





A UNEP-INTERPOL RAPID RESPONSE ASSESSMENT

THERSEOF A GROWING THREAT TO NATURAL RESOURCES, PEACE, DEVELOPMENT AND SECURITY ENVIRONMENTAL CRIME

Editorial TeamChristian Nellemann (Editor in Chief)
Rune Henriksen
Arnold Kreilhuber
Davyth Stewart
Maria Kotsovou
Patricia Raxter
Elizabeth Mrema
Sam BarratCartographyRiccardo Pravettoni
Division Division Patricia (Gamma context)

Philippe Rekacewicz (figure 11) Emmanuelle Bournay (figure 14)

Foreword

The world is being dredged of its natural resources, with much of what we rely on for our livelihoods at risk from a new threat: environmental crime.

The slaughter of elephants and rhinos has raised awareness of the illegal trade in wildlife. We are facing mass extinctions and countries are losing iconic wildlife species. However, the scope and spectrum of this illegal trade has widened. Criminals now include in their trafficking portfolios waste, chemicals, ozone depleting substances, illegally caught seafood, timber and other forest products, as well as conflict minerals, including gold and diamonds.

The growth rate of these crimes is astonishing. The report that follows reveals for the first time that this new area of criminality has diversified and skyrocketed to become the world's fourth largest crime sector in a few decades, growing at 2-3 times the pace of the global economy. INTERPOL and UNEP now estimate that natural resources worth as much as USD 91 billion to USD 258 billion annually are being stolen by criminals, depriving countries of future revenues and development opportunities.

Environmental crime has impacts beyond those posed by regular criminality. It increases the fragility of an already brittle planet. The resulting vast losses to our planet rob future generations of wealth, health and wellbeing on an unprecedented scale. They also compromise our ability to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals.

An additional by-product of environmental crime is that it undermines peace. It is not surprising that the UN Security Council has recognized the serious threat to security posed by environmental crime, with UN reports pointing to armed groups and potentially even terrorists sustained through the spoils of this rising criminal industry.

However, an enhanced law enforcement response can help address this worrying trend. There are significant examples worldwide of cross-sectoral efforts working to crack down on environmental crime and successfully restore wildlife, forests and ecosystems. Such collaboration, sharing and joining of efforts within and across borders, whether formal or informal, is our strongest weapon in fighting environmental crime.

But to meet the scale of this threat, a broad-ranging, targeted effort must be put forward so that peace and sustainable development can prevail.

Mr. Achim Steiner UN Under-Secretary General and UNEP Executive Director

Mr. Jürgen Stock INTERPOL Secretary General

Contents



- 7 Summary and recommendations
- 15 Introduction
- 17 What is environmental crime?
- 25 The legal framework on environmental crimes
- **39** Growth in environmental crime
- 41 Illegal wildlife trade
- 51 Forestry crimes
- 57 Fisheries crimes
- 62 Waste, pollution
- 64 White collar environmental crimes
- 67 Environmental crime and threat finance to terrorism and conflicts
- 75 Addressing root causes of environmental crime
- 77 Responding to environmental crime
- **85 Restoration case studies**
- 89 Coordination of efforts
- 93 Conclusion



Summary and recommendations

The environment provides the very foundation of sustainable development, our health, food security and our economies. Ecosystems provide clean water supply, clean air and secure food and ultimately both physical and mental wellbeing. Natural resources also provide livelihoods, jobs and revenues to governments that can be used for education, health care, development and sustainable business models. The role of the environment is recognized across the internationally agreed seventeen sustainable development goals adopted in 2015.

However, the environment as the very foundation of sustainable development, peace and security is now at risk. Environmental crime is vastly expanding and increasingly endangering not only wildlife populations but entire ecosystems, sustainable livelihoods and revenue streams to governments. By some estimates, possibly more than a quarter of the world's elephant population has been lost in a decade. However, environmental crimes are no longer restricted to iconic wildlife and rare wood species alone - they have become part and parcel of the larger global network of transnational organized environmental crimes. Environmental crime also include corporate crime in the forestry sector, illegal exploitation and sale of gold and minerals, illegal fisheries/fishing, trafficking in hazardous waste and chemicals and threat finance using wealth generated illegally from natural resources to support non-state armed groups and terrorism.

Although the definition of "environmental crime" is not universally agreed, it is often understood as a collective term to describe illegal activities harming the environment and aimed at benefitting individuals or groups or companies from the exploitation of, damage to, trade or theft of natural resources, including serious crimes and transnational organized crime.

Indeed, the value of the illegal wildlife trade is now dwarfed by the larger crimes against the environment.

- The illegal wildlife trade is by some estimated at 7–23 billion USD per year
- Environmental crime is now estimated to be ca. 91–258 billion USD (2016) annually, a 26% increase from previous estimate in 2014.
- Environmental crimes is rising by 5-7% annually 2–3 times the rate of the global economy
- Losses of government revenues through lost tax income due to criminal exploitation account for at least 9–26 billion USD annually.
- Forestry crimes including corporate crimes and illegal logging account for an estimated 51–152 billion USD;
- Illegal fisheries an estimated 11-24 billion USD,
- Illegal mining estimated at 12–48 billion USD;
- Waste at 10–12 billion USD.



The wide uncertainty range reflects the lack of criminal statistics in this field, but is based on best sources and criminal intelligence from INTERPOL. The value makes environmental crimes the fourth largest crime in the world after drug trafficking (344 billion USD), counterfeit crimes (288 billion USD) and human trafficking (157 billion USD), by some estimates.

Unlike any other known crime, environmental crimes are aggravated through their additional cost and impact on the environment and cost to future generations. Deforestation, dumping of chemicals and illegal fisheries causes loss of ecosystem services such as clean air and clean water, extreme weather mitigation, food security and even health and wellbeing. They also deprive governments of much-needed revenues and undermine legal businesses.

The possible annual growth rate of environmental crimes is difficult to estimate. Based on some registered trade statistics, seizures and reported incidents including of iconic species and chemicals, the last decade has seen a rise in environmental crimes by an annual growth rate of possibly in the range of at



least 5–7%, with examples as high as 21–28%. This compares to a global GDP growth rate of ca. 2.4%. Hence, the growth rate in environmental crimes, including the illegal wildlife trade, may indeed be 2–3 times that of the global economy, but corresponds to or exceed the growth rate in Asian countries that serve as transit or recipient of many illegal products.

With the rising involvement of transnational organized crime, criminals coordinate, evade or even shift their focus from drugs, human trafficking, counterfeit products and arms to any new opportunity – hazardous waste and chemicals, forest products, pangolins, giant clams, minerals and illegally extracted gold. The pangolin, an ant and insect eating scaly mammal from Asia and Africa. has become one of the world's most trafficked animals for fraudulent medicines and exclusive meals in just a few years, with over a million individual pangolins estimated to have been killed in a decade. Natural resources in terms of gold, minerals, forestry products or waste are easier to smuggle and raise less attention than drugs. Hazardous waste and electronic waste are often customs-code classified as second-hand products by smugglers and thereby bypass customs regulations and international conventions. Criminals shift swiftly between types of contraband or to alternative geographic locations in response to geographically or thematically limited enforcement operations.

Moreover, enforcement efforts have revealed a great increase in the scale of organization of environmental crimes: Prosecuted and convicted individuals in recent years have been convicted for illegal logging and laundering of hundreds of millions of USD in individual cases, dwarfing the resources which are available for enforcement, investigation and prosecution. Individual carbon credit fraud cases have involved sums of transfers and profits also in the hundred million USD scale. A single individual vessel involved in illegally fishing Patagonian toothfish was estimated to have had illegal catches of around 200-300 million USD alone. The UNODC-WCO container control programme has established improved customs controls in some countries, targeted at transnational organized crime. This programme is seeing a rise in a new diversity of contraband far beyond drugs, arms, counterfeit products and ivory - but also ozone depleting chemicals and hazardous waste - such as containers with 37 tons of the ozone-depleting gas in Pakistan in 2014, but also in places like Paraguay in 2015 and in Ghana in 2016, reflecting a global network.

Criminals are becoming more advanced and are shifting from ivory to giant clams and pangolins. They shift from smuggling ozone depleting CFCs to HCFCs smuggling as HCFCs are phased out and become more scarce, shifting from regular



VAT fraud to carbon credit fraud as the carbon credit market emerged, and are shifting to laundering illegal tropical timber through pulp and paper when customs target round logs or furniture. These criminal networks now also engage in "white collar"-crimes, including corporate crimes, use of thousands of shell companies in tax havens, tax fraud, double counting, transfer mispricing, money laundering, internet crimes and hacking, phishing/identity theft, securities fraud, financial crimes, and fraudulent reclaiming of carbon credits, to mention a few, impeding and hindering development goals across sectors at both national and global levels. As transnational organized criminal groups become more established, their abilities to circumvent enforcement efforts increase, diversify and shift to new products.

The root causes of environmental crimes vary greatly, and subsequently the design, identification and implementation of appropriate responses must be carefully planned. Root causes are primarily the low risks and high profits in a permissive environment as a result of poor governance and widespread corruption, minimal budgets to police, prosecution and courts, inadequate institutional support, political interference and low employee morale, minimal benefits to local communities and rising demand in particular in Asia. The situation is especially critical on support to prosecution and courts/the judiciary in many developing countries. Indeed, a regional breakdown between North America and Southern Africa of relative expenditure on the police, prosecution services and courts revealed that in North America 43% of these funds went to prosecution and courts, while only 16% in the countries of southern Africa. Poverty also facilitates recruitments of low-level perpetrators at the frontlines. This means that the issue requires a full range of responses, also beyond enforcement.

The international community is still far behind in combating the rising role of environment-associated crimes for threat finance in conflict and for development and environmental security. Resources allocated to international enforcement efforts against environmental crimes are completely under-dimensioned for containing the growth in environmental crimes. Current global resources specifically allocated to international organisations such as INTERPOL, UNEP, WCO, UNODC and relevant conventions specifically for combating these transnational environmental crimes are likely combined no more than 20–30 million USD globally (dependent on calculation), resulting in continued rising involvement of organized criminal networks due to a permissive environment unless more resources are allocated and capacities shared across agencies.





Indeed, OECD reported in 2014 that the share of ODA (Official Development Assistance) to governance and peace had been declining by a relative 3% annually since 2009.¹ This has actually led to a weakening of the enforcement and prosecution sector in recent years, especially in the least developing countries.

The sheer financial scale and sophistication of environmental crimes now require an entirely different scale of coordinated responses and international collaboration, working across ministries and jurisdictions at the national level, to international cross-UN and trans-border collaboration. Achieving this level of sophistication will require significant donor support because the sites most affected by environmental crimes are also in the countries with the least resources to address them.

Efforts to curb the wider environmental crimes have become particularly important in response to threats against peace and security, so vital to sustainable development. Across the world, terrorist and non-state armed groups are increasingly benefitting financially from or engaging with organized crime, as recognized by the UN Security Council Resolution S/RES/2195 (2014). In the Trans-Sahara, armed groups like Al Qaeda in Islamic Maghreb (AQIM) and Al Mourabitoun and others are smuggling drugs, cigarettes, migrants and commodities for profit. Da'esh or ISIS is heavily involved in trafficking of oil and antiques, amongst other commodities, showing yet a diversification by targeting antiques. Taliban make their primary incomes from drugs and taxation. Non-state armed groups, terrorist groups and others are increasingly now also engaging in environmental crimes and thrive on the exploitation of natural resources, similar to the incomes derived from other forms of contraband.

This provides them with a low-risk high-profit source of revenue compared to their traditional incomes from other forms of smuggling, human trafficking, drugs or counterfeit products. This, in turn, undermines peacekeeping efforts. Groups like Janjaweed and LRA have, like other groups in the region made incomes from ivory. In Peru and Colombia - which currently have the largest cocaine production in the world, illegal gold mining is becoming a profitable alternative to drugs. Organized criminal groups also use environmental crimes to launder money from drug trafficking. Groups benefitting or have benefitted in the past from illegal or unregulated exploitation of natural resources include Al Shabaab, which prior to the intervention by the AU in Somalia made 38-56 million USD annually on the illicit charcoal trade. Much of this traffic, including by organized crime, continues. In the Amazon, armed groups like FARC are taxing timber, gold and coltan. FARC for instance makes an estimated 12 million USD annually by extorting illegal gold miners. Criminal networks behind the conflict in eastern DRC, a conflict which has killed several million people, have spent around 2% of their proceeds to fund 25-49 different rebel groups. According to some estimates, illegal natural resources exploitation in eastern DRC is valued at 722–862 million USD annually.

In spite of the rising threat to environment, peace, security and development, a number of successes show that coordinated responses can effectively curb the illegal trade and sometimes restore damage to ecosystems:

At the national level, perhaps the biggest single success achieved on combating environmental crime was the Brazilian sector wide Plan for Protection and Combating Deforestation in the Amazon (PPCDAM), reducing deforestation in the Amazon by 76% across only five years. Perhaps the most important key to the Brazilian success was that a single office was given full responsibility for coordination: the Executive Office of the Presidency in close collaboration with the Federal Police, with coordination and implementation with 13 ministries and more partners, and even in the first phase results were substantial: Over 41,000 fines worth USD 3.9 billion were issued, 700 were arrested and many prosecuted, one million cubic meters of tropical timber seized; 11,000 properties, equipment and assets were confiscated or destroyed, and nearly one million hectares of productive land (pastures and soybean) were embargoed.

Correspondingly, the Montreal protocol has an important role also in reducing the illegal trade in ozone-depleting substances like CFCs and HCFCs through initiatives, including the "informal Prior-Informed Consent - iPIC" launched by UNEP in 2006 and the Project Sky Hole Patching with countries participating as members and with both the Regional Intelligence Liaison Office of the World Customs Organization and the UNEP OzonAction Programme under the Montreal Protocol playing a coordinating role. Thanks to the Project Sky Hole Patching I and II, about 800 tons of ozone depleting substances have been seized as of 2010. With regard to iPIC, in 2014 alone, of the reported 141 consultations, over 30% resulted in rejections or cancellations of license requests which prevented unwanted trade in more than 545 tons of ozone depleting substances including HCFCs and halons. UNODC reported in 2013 that the scale of illicit trade in CFCs had dramatically been reduced as a result of the global agreement on the phasing out of ozone-depleting substances, effectively shutting down also criminal markets. However, HCFCs are still widely used with several years to go until the phase out date. This demonstrates how implementing environmental rule of law through global agreements can effectively both obtain environmental goals and also shut down a global illegal trade of commodities by providing no safe havens.

The Stockholm, Rotterdam and Basel conventions are the conventions responsible for helping prevent the illegal trade in chemicals and waste. In 2013, UNODC reported that illegal trade in E-waste to Southeast Asia and the Pacific was estimated at 3.75 billion USD annually or 1.5 times larger than the illegal trade in wildlife in the region, estimated at 2.5 billion. UNEP estimated in 2015 that the trade globally amounted to 12.5-18.8 billion USD annually, however, how much of this e-waste that was subject to the illegal trade or simply dumped, is not known. These conventions provide important platforms for strengthening efforts against the illegal trade in hazardous chemicals and waste.

While some certification schemes on selected minerals are in place, most are still way behind the sheer scale of illegal trade in natural resources, especially in fragile states and regions affected by conflict. In other crime areas, efforts to combat and reduce carbon credit fraud have been implemented such as in the EU, shutting down major parts of the trade especially on carbon credit VAT fraud.

Re-introduction programmes of endangered or lost wildlife can also be done through coordinated efforts. Golden Lion Tamarins are slowly gaining grounds in Brazil's Atlantic forests. In 2015 Nepal celebrated the third year without the loss of a rhino to poaching (also in 2011 and 2013) and their rhino populations are slowly recovering unlike in most other parts of the world. In Europe the large brown bear populations are recovering due to protective legislation, supportive public opinion, and practices making coexistence with people possible. Angola, Botswana, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe have jointly established the Kavango Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area to help elephant populations recover.

A concerted action and information and analysis sharing effort to combat and reduce environmental crimes will be required across the world to curb its rise in environmental crimes, and subsequently support sustainable businesses, peaceful development and prosperity and wellbeing across nations. This includes, as reflected also in UN Security Council Resolutions S/Res/2195 (2014) and S/RES/2277 (2016), the need for improved sharing of information and analysis from and across member states and the UN on the role of organized crime in environment, peace, development and security. Protecting the ecosystems and the sustainable use of natural resources against harm from crime will require a cross-sectoral long-term effort. As has been shown, dedicated collaborative efforts can indeed be successful.

Recommendations

Reduce threats to security and peace: Strengthen the information collection, analysis and sharing, across sectors, in peacekeeping missions, Sanctions Committees and across the UN as a whole on the role of natural resource exploitation in conflicts and security in order to inform holistic responses towards securing peace, security and sustainable development. This includes integrating INTERPOL liaison officers in peacekeeping missions.

2 Rule of law: The international community must recognize and address environmental crimes as a serious threat to peace and sustainable development and strengthen the environmental rule of law at all levels to prevent safe havens including disrupting overseas tax havens, improve legislation at international and national levels, implement dissuasive penalties, substantial sanctions and punishments, capacity building and technological support, in order to enhance the enforcement and adjudication capacities in the area of environmental crime.

B Leadership: Governments should establish central coordination and national cross-sectoral plans, with unity of command and unity of efforts, in coordination with the relevant UN entities, INTERPOL, and other relevant international treaty bodies and institutions, as appropriate, to combat the involvement of criminal organized groups in environmental crimes.

Financial support: Call upon the international development community to recognize and address environmental crime as a serious threat to sustainable development and strengthen the share of ODA to governance and judicial sector reform including to combating and preventing environmental crime. This should be targeted to capacity building and technological support to relevant agencies, national, regional and global law enforcement efforts against environmental crimes, such as information and analysis, inter-agency collaboration, enforcement, prosecution and the judiciary, especially in developing countries and fragile states.

5 Economic incentives and consumer awareness: Strengthen economic incentives, relevant institutions and awareness. This requires that plans for alternative livelihoods, economic incentives and consumer awareness also in importing countries are fully integrated and coordinated with enforcement efforts. Identifying best practices in behavioural change should be undertaken to reduce demand, including through a Communications Summit to address all points of this trade.



Introduction

The large-scale killings of up to several hundred thousand elephants in the last decade² have probably triggered much of the global attention on the wider wildlife trafficking crisis. This has been reflected in numerous conferences, resolutions and declarations in over 70 significant events since 2012 to support efforts to curb the poaching and illegal trade.³ The wider illegal trafficking of thousands of species, of birdlife, reptiles, fish, amphibians, mammals and plants has reached unprecedented scales, damaging ecosystems, diversifying transnational organized crime (TOC), and causing losses in revenues from tourism. Forestry crimes, from unregulated or illegal burning of charcoal to large-scale corporate crimes concerning timber, paper and pulp involving large-scale deforestation, have major bearings on global climate emissions, water reserves, desertification schemes and rainfall.⁴

The scale and nature of the challenge of illegal wildlife trade have been well recognized in decisions of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) (see decisions and resolutions following COP 16)5-7, the UN Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice and UNODC,8 the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), the UN Security Council, UN General Assembly, INTERPOL,9 the World Customs Organisation (WCO) and others, including many significant nations. High-level political conferences have also addressed the issue, most notably recently convened in Botswana and Paris (December 2013), London (February 2014), and Tanzania (May 2014). This has led to resolutions at the UN Environment Assembly in 2014 and 2016, in the UN General Assembly in 2015 on Tackling illicit trafficking in Wildlife (A/RES/69/314), in Resolution 23/1 of The Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice on strengthening a targeted crime prevention and criminal justice response to combat illicit trafficking in forest products, and by INTERPOL General Assembly (AG-2014-RES-03).

Yet, while these resolutions increase the political momentum, the crisis is still deepening in many regions. In spite of some successes, the responses in terms of impact on the ground are still behind the scale and development of the threat to wildlife and ecosystems, as well as increasingly also development goals, peace and security.

Environmental crimes, including illegal mining of gold, diamonds, illegal unreported and unregulated fisheries and trafficking in hazardous waste also undermines legal commerce and robs developing countries of an estimated USD 91–259 billion every year. Tax revenues from this activity could have been used for schools, infrastructure investments, health care and business development.



The issue of environmental crime, however, has much more far-reaching impacts and threats to human security and sustainable development. Firstly, many people are involuntarily recruited as a result of poverty and lack of alternatives. Secondly, the diversification of organized crime into these sectors as a low-risk, but profitable crime further accelerates corruption and undermines legal business models by deflating prices and even through the use of forced labour.

Finally, environmental crime, beyond destroying the very platform on which our health, food production, economy



and ultimately wellbeing is based,¹⁰⁻¹¹ is in some instances funding non-state armed groups, terrorism and driving conflicts. Indeed, the UN Security Council has in numerous resolutions, especially since Resolution 2195 (Dec 19th, 2014), called for improved and increased support from member states to enhance the information and analysis capacity regarding the nexus of organized crime and threat finance. Groups such as the Lord's Resistance Army and Janjaweed have been involved in killings of elephants for ivory. Natural resources have become yet another source of income similar to drugs, counterfeit products, oil and antiques which have been funding groups like the Taliban, Al Qaeda and Islamic State. Hence, environmental crime has now reached far beyond that of wildlife trafficking alone, jeopardising the very foundation of health, development, peace and security. Combating environmental crime, supporting peace and development and ultimately restoring ecosystems and wildlife populations where possible will require a grand scale effort globally.

This report summarizes some of the central resolutions and legal framework available to combat environmental crimes, and points to a way forward for the development of a systemwide strategy.

What is environmental crime?

The term environmental crime covers not only the illegal trade in wildlife, but also forestry and fishery crimes, illegal dumping of waste including chemicals, smuggling of ozone depleting substances and illegal mining. Illegal mining is not limited to illegal extraction of resources, it also has severe environmental impacts, whether from mercury pollution from artisanal gold mining,¹² or destruction of natural flora and fauna, pollution, landscape degradation and radiation hazards, with negative impact on arable land, economic crops and trees.¹³ A broad understanding of environmental crime includes threat finance from exploitation of natural resources such as minerals, oil, timber, charcoal, marine resources, financial crimes in natural resources, laundering, tax fraud and illegal trade in hazardous waste and chemicals, as well as the environmental impacts of illegal exploitation and extraction of natural resources.¹⁴ Environmental crime has in recent years received global attention due to its serious and deleterious impact on the environment and ecosystems, as well as on peace, security and development.

Although the definition of "environmental crime" is not universally agreed, it is most commonly understood as a collective term to describe illegal activities harming the environment and aimed at benefitting individuals or groups or companies from the exploitation of, damage to, trade or theft of natural resources, including, but not limited to serious crimes and transnational organized crime.

Environmental crime endangers not only wildlife populations ranging from elephants, rhinos and tigers to pangolins, reptiles, fish and rare birds and plants but also at an ecosystems level through massive deforestation, pollution from unregulated chemical use and disposal, and destruction of livelihoods.¹⁵

Illegal trade ranges from bush-meat poaching based on food insecurity by impoverished villagers¹⁶ to natural resource exploitation by transnational organized criminals and non-state armed groups with potential links to terrorism. Given the complexity of the history and causal mechanisms involved in the range of environmental crime issues, there is also subsequently substantial confusion with regard to which responses are the most appropriate. In the following, some clarification is given, reflecting developments during 2015.

Illegal exploitation of natural resources, including ITW, has negative consequence on potential revenues from tourism, timber, mining, gold, diamonds, fisheries and even oil and charcoal. These are all natural resources that could have produced revenue for development needs such as for health care, infrastructure, schools and sound and sustainable business development.¹⁷ Indeed, the illegal trade especially in natural resources



like fish, timber and minerals undermine legal and sustainable businesses through unfair competition and non-payment of legitimate taxes for social benefits. Currently, the scale of different forms of environmental crime is likely in the range of USD 9I-259 billion or I-2 times the size of global ODA.¹⁸

This total amount of 91–259 billion is a loss to society because the commercial activity takes place in a parallel criminal illegitimate economy. It undermines governance, legal tax-influenced price levels, and particularly legitimate business. An unknown proportion will nonetheless be re-introduced into the legitimate economy through laundering, or as consumption for example. About 10% of the total amount is estimated loss of revenue to governments. The number is based on two assumptions:

- 1. that the criminal activity generates an average profit of 30%, and
- 2. that government tax revenues could be 30% of the profits, if the environmental crime activities had been legal and legitimate.

For an approximate comparison the average world total tax rate % of commercial profits was 40.8 in 2015 according to the World Bank.¹⁹

For the USD 91-259 billion range, with a profit of USD 27-78 billion, the tax income, which is loss for government revenue, would be 8-23 billion, or 8.8 % of the total amount. This is

Major environmental crimes, drives and impacts 152 At stake: 50.7 gal logging between 15 and 30 % the global legal trade Elimate change emissions from deforestation and forest degradation At stake: 23 11 argeted species: una, toothfish, sharks **Illegal logging** and trade Illegal, Unreported, **Unregulated** fishing Corruption Lack of legislation National National Local Corporate Mafias Lack of law crime enforcement International At stake: International National National 23 National International Increasing Conflict demand Annual revenue losses National International Minimum and maximun estimates, Regional Domestic **Billion dollars** At stake: 48 Wildlife poaching and trafficking for local industry At stake: 10 12 **Illegal** extraction and trade in minerals Trade and dumping of hazardous waste

RHIPTO 2016

Figure 1: Environmental crimes go far beyond wildlife and includes fish, timber, minerals and even hazardous waste?^{20.21}

rounded up to 10% for ease of calculation, giving a loss of government revenue of USD 9–26 billion.

Impacts on environment and ecosystems from environmental crimes

An ecosystem is a dynamic complex of plant, animal and microorganism communities and the non-living environment interacting as a functional unit²² Ecosystems provide a range of services and provide the very foundations of our economy, human health, livelihoods and well-being.²³⁻²⁵ They can include

clean air, water supply, extreme weather mitigation and storm protection, food security and pollination, just to mention a few.²⁶⁻²⁸ An assessment of the environmental impacts of the illegal trade in Wildlife has just been launched (June 2016) by UNEP, however, no assessment currently exists of the environmental impacts of the wider range of environmental crimes and their full implications for environmental sustainability and development goals. This is urgently needed. Information is available on a number of individual parts of the environmental crimes, though a consolidated overview is needed.



Different forms of environmental crimes and their approximate estimated scale^{T1}

Environmental crime	Annual loss of resources pre 2014 estimate (USD) ^{T2}	Annual loss of resources 2016 estimate (USD)	Source or reviews
Illegal logging and trade	30–100 billion	50.7–152 billion	New Sources: UNEP, 2014 (10–30%), updated by FAOSTAT 2014: ^{T3} Roundwood including woodfuel: 3.7 billion m ³ x average export unit price of 137 USD/m ³ = global wood trade of USD 507 billion. With 10–30% possibly illegal this accounts for USD 50.7–152 billion.
Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated fisheries	11–30 billion	11–23.5 billion	MRAG and UBC 2008 ^{T4} (10–23 billion) UNODC 2011 ^{T5} and Agnew 2009 ^{T6} (10–23.5 billion) (12–32% of the global trade). No new updates available. However, this does not include illegal open sea discard of approximately one-third of the global catch. Hence discards may account for tens of billions of USD in addition.
Illegal extraction and trade in minerals/ mining	12–48 billion	12–48 billion	Estimated as only 1–4% of by industry of the global trade (GFI, 2011; GA 2012). New source GI 2016 ^{T7} indicates –28–90% of mined gold was illegal in five South America countries, accounting alone for 7 billion USD on gold alone in five countries) suggesting that this is a gross underestimate. However it has been kept as this for now as more research is needed.
Illegal trade and dumping of hazardous waste	10–12 billion	10–12 billion US\$	US Department of Justice 2000 ^{T8} (10–20 billion); GA 2012. New source UNEP 2015 (Unaccounted or illegally traded E-waste alone accounted for 12.2–19 Billion USD in 2015). ^{T9} The ratio between illegal and unregulated is not clear, hence previous estimate is kept.
Illegal trade and poaching of plants and other wildlife	7–23 billion	7–23 billion US\$	Wyler and Sheik 2008 ^{T10} (5-20 billion), Haken 2011 ^{T11} (7.8–10 billion). US Government agencies 2000 cited OECD 2012 ^{T12} (USD 6-10 billion excluding wood and fish). New estimates UNODC including mainly endangered species cf. CITES. This estimate is somewhat confounded with forestry data, hence original estimate is kept but needs revision. No new estimate currently available, but see separate section on growth in environmental crimes.
Sum environmental crime	70–213 billion	91– 259 billion US\$ (30–22% higher ie. 26% on average)	All converted to 2016 USD. ^{T13}

Other non-environ- mental crimes	Annual loss of resources pre 2014 estimate (USD)	Annual loss of resources 2016 estimate (USD)	Source or reviews
Drugs		344 billion USD	UNODC 2005 (cannabis herb and resin USD 142 billion), ^{T14} UNODC 2011 (2009 cocaine 85 billion + opiates/heroin 68 billion) ^{T15}
Human trafficking (excl. recent migrant to Europe)		157.1 billion	International Labour Organisation 2014 (forced labour generates USD 150 billion in illegal profits per year. 2/3 is from sexual exploitation and the rest other economic exploitation) ^{T16} EUROPOL-INTERPOL 2016 (Recent migration wave Europe USD 5.5 billion) ^{T17}
Counterfeit crimes		288 billion USD	OECD 2007 ^{T18} and UNODC ^{T19} (USD 250 billion) does not include domestically produced and consumed products, or non-tangible digital products.
Small arms illegal trafficking		1.5–3 billion USD	10-20% of the licit small arms trade, which is USD 10.3 billion incl. parts and sights per year (Small Arms Survey 2012) ^{T20} Ammuni- tion USD 4.2 billion per year (Janes Intelli- gence Review 2013) ^{T21}

These estimates are derived from published reports, UN statistics on legal trades and estimates from criminal intelligence through INTERPOL on the extent based on reporting from National Central Bureaus in member states. Given that criminals do not report statistics on their activities, considerable uncertainties exist not only regarding the accuracy of the estimates, but also the delineation amongst the different crime groups and the commodity prices applied in the different sectors. For example, some agencies include only CITES registered species, others include fisheries and forestry but not the much larger trade in timber and wood fuel. Hence wide ranges are provided.

- T1 "Transnational Crime in the Developing World," (Global Financial Integrity).
- T2 "The Environmental Crime Crisis."
- T3 "Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015," www.fao.org/3/a-i4808e.pdf.
- T4 "The Global Extent of Illegal Fishing," (Fisheries Ecosystems Restoration Research, Fisheries Centre, University of British Coloumbia; MRAG).
- T5 "Transnational Organized Crime in the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking," in Focus on: Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking (Vienna).
- T6 "Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing," Plos One 4, no. 2.
- T7 "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America".
- T8 Cited in "Illegal Trade in Environmentally Sensitive Goods," in OECD Trade Policy Studies, 37.
- T9 "Waste Crime Waste Risks: Gaps in Meeting the Global Waste Challenge," in A Rapid Response Assessment, ed. Nellemann C. Rucevska I., et al (Nairobi and Arendal: United Nations Environment Programme and GRID-Arendal).
- T10 "International Illegal Trade in Wildlife Threats and U.S. Policy," (Congressional Research Service).

- T11 "Transnational Crime in the Developing World."
- T12 "Illegal Trade in Environmentally Sensitive Goods," 37.
- T13 US Department of Labor Inflation calculator: www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm
- T14 "World Drug Report 2005: Volume I Analysis," (UNODC), 17.
- T15 "World Drug Report 2011," (New York: UNODC).
- T16 "Profits and Poverty: The Economics of Forced Labour," (Geneva: ILO).
- T17 "Migrant Smuggling Networks."
- T18 "Magnitude of Counterfeiting and Piracy of Tangible Products: An Update," (OECD).
- T19 "The Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime," in Focus on.
- T20 Small Arms Survey 2012: Moving Targets (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), chapter 8; ibid.
- T21 "Under the Gun: Can a Global Treaty Regulate Small Arms Trade?," IHS Jane's Intelligence Review.







The legal framework on environmental crimes

Criminals exploit the lack of international consensus and the divergence of approaches taken by countries. What may constitute a crime in one country, is not in another. This effectively enables criminals to go "forum shopping" and use for example one country to conduct poaching, another to prepare merchandise, and export via a third transit country. According to UNODC, corruption is the most important enabling factor behind illegal wildlife and timber trade.²⁹ Identifying the optimal legal framework for preventing, combating and prosecuting environmental crimes requires careful consideration.

Firstly, with the extent of the crises, many have called for designating any violation of wildlife or environmental laws and regulations to be designated as "serious crimes". Another proposal is to designate illicit trafficking in protected species of wild fauna and flora involving organized criminal groups" as serious crimes. While the latter may serve a purpose, careful consideration must be made to ensure such an approach does not undermine principles of proportionality between offense and punishment. A hunter taking the wrong deer should for obvious reasons not be punished to the same extent as an organized criminal involved in large-scale illegal deforestation, the killing and trafficking of hundreds of rhinos or thousands of elephants, or someone funding large-scales atrocities from gold or diamond smuggling revenues, by supporting terrorism or armed violent groups.

Secondly, the type of definition and designation of the offense may lead to the wrong laws or regulations being applied in prosecution. Many emerging definitions for environmental crime have actually constrained the term by limiting it to crimes associated with breaches of environmental legislation only³⁰ or endangered species only. This seriously reduces opportunities for prosecution and punishment, since environmental crime is typically only seen to refer to infractions (fines) or misdemeanours (fines or shorter term imprisonment), rather than felonies.

An important point is the fact that an offence is a crime only if the state decides to punish a certain behaviour through criminal law. Criminalizing an environmental offence can, in certain cases, be an effective and dissuasive way to achieve proper implementation of environmental law. However, there are large differences between the criminal sanctions provided for environmental offences across the globe and often existing criminal sanctions are not sufficiently stringent to ensure a high level of environmental protection. Similarly, the capacity of governments to enforce criminal law greatly varies. This is particularly true in many of the least developed countries,



where very little development support has gone to strengthen the enforcement and judicial sector. Indeed, one of the biggest differences between many industrialized countries and the least developed, is the much larger proportion of police compared to the prosecuting or judicial sector. For example, in North America, 44% is spent on courts and prosecution and 56% on police, while in the countries in southern Africa only 16% is spent on prosecution/courts and 84% on police.³¹

The necessity of a wider approach is intrinsically recognized by the UN Convention on Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC), that intentionally does not define transnational organized crime or list the kinds of crimes that might constitute it, simply to enable a broader applicability of the convention on new and emerging forms of crime. It does, however, define organized criminal groups.³²⁻³³

Legislation

In 2014, the INTERPOL General Assembly passed a Resolution on INTERPOL's response to emerging threats in Environmental Security (Resolution AG-2014-RES-03).³⁴ In that Resolution, instead of defining environmental crime, INTERPOL instead focused on "environmental security" by recognizing the impact that environmental crime and violations can have on a nation's political stability, environmental quality, its natural resources, biodiversity, economy and human life. INTERPOL also recognizes that criminal networks engaged in financial crime, fraud, corruption, illicit trade and human trafficking are also engaged in or facilitating environmental crime.

Both INTERPOL and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice (CCPCJ) have taken this approach. By regarding environmental crimes more as a collective term, they can fall under already established laws on serious crimes, including, but not limited to, serious financial crimes, corporate crimes, forgery, fraud including tax fraud, organized crime and threat or terrorist finance, where the damage to the environment or use of natural resources is a means to this goal and an aggravating condition. Given the complexity and the severity of the threat to the environment, such an approach provides prosecutors with far more powerful tools for prosecution and prevention and importantly – proportionality between offense, intent and punishment.

Importantly, as pointed out by the EU, in Directive 2008/99/ EC of The European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on the protection of the environment through criminal law: Common rules on criminal offences make it possible to use effective methods of investigation also on environmental crimes. In order to achieve effective protection of the environment, dissuasive penalties for environmentally harmful activities must be in place. Indeed, in the EU, a *"failure to comply with a legal duty to act can have the same effect as active behaviour and should therefore also be subject to corresponding penalties. Therefore, such conduct should be considered a criminal offence throughout the Community when committed intentionally or with serious negligence.*"³⁵

Natural resources are increasingly driving conflicts, and the nexus of organized crime and threat finance provide a particularly challenging framework for intervention and early prevention. This was recognized in UN Security Council Resolution S/RES/2195 (2014), which strongly called upon and encouraged the wider UN, as appropriate, and member states to "to collect, analyse and exchange information, including law enforcement and intelligence information" to "prevent terrorism benefiting from transnational organized crime" and to share, as appropriate, between Special Representatives of the Secretary-General, the Department of Peacekeeping Operations, the Department of Political Affairs, the Counter-Terrorism Executive Directorate, the UN Office on







Drugs and Crime, the Counter-Terrorism Implementation Task Force and the United Nations Development Programme, within existing mandates and resources.

The importance of gaining improved information on the role of environmental crimes and natural resources in conflict was also recognized directly for the first time in the operational mandate in S/RES/2277 (2016) to MONUSCO, the largest UN peacekeeping mission, in Eastern DRC. In eastern DRC looting of natural resources is a primary driver of the near 20 year long conflict.

In terms of the different features of environmental crime, there is a degree of division of labour in terms of providing legislation and set the parameters for implementation. On the illegal wildlife trade, CITES (The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) is the legally binding international instrument that imposes obligations on source, transit and destination states. Its aim is to ensure that international trade in specimens of wild animals and plants does not threaten their survival. And it makes it easier to gain cooperative action across the illegal supply chain regarding listed species.³⁶



Three conventions control the international trade and movement of hazardous waste and dangerous chemical substances by setting procedures and standards for import and export. Both the environment and human health are exposed to hazardous waste and chemicals through the cycle these products go through from production, transport, use and to disposal. The interlinked conventions are:

- The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, which primarily covers wastes trade.
- 2) The Rotterdam Convention on the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade and
- 3) The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants which primarily covers chemicals, including restrictions on production.³⁷

The consensus based Montreal Protocol of 1987, which controls ozone depleting gasses (ODS), has been ratified by 197 parties, making it universally ratified. Projects worth USD



3.2 billion have been approved by its Executive Committee to phase out over 450,000 tonnes of substances with ozone depletion potential (ODP), including the implementation of Project Sky Hole Patching by the Regional Intelligence Liaison Office of the World Customs Organization in the 2000s. UNEP, UNIDO, UNDP and the World Bank are the implementing agencies of the protocol.³⁸

UNEP has an important role as well in terms of maintaining an overview of legislative efforts, to avoid excessive compartmentalisation in upholding the rule of environmental law. UNEP Governing Council's (GC) Decision 27/9 is the first internationally negotiated document to establish the term "environmental rule of law".³⁹ The decision emphasised the role of organized criminal groups in trafficking hazardous waste, wildlife and illegal timber. The Council recognised that environmental crime undermines sustainable development, the successful implementation of environmental goals and objectives, the rule of law, and effective governance. The council also noted that these issues have been recognized in UN General Assembly resolution A/RES/67/1 (2012) and A/ RES/67/97 (2013) which urged member states to address transnational organized crime's impact on the environ-



ment.⁴⁰ This language closely matches the language used in S/RES/2195 (2014) mentioned above.

GC Decision 27/9 requested UNEP's Executive Director to improve coherence, coordination and collaboration between UNEP agencies as well as other entities, including, but not limited to, information sharing, capacity building and the strengthening of national environmental governance and expertise for prosecutors, judges, and law enforcement.⁴¹

In 2014 UNEP hosted the very first United Nations Environment Assembly. Resolution 1/3 on illegal trade in wildlife from the Assembly was deeply concerned about the increasing scale of illegal trade in wildlife products, including timber and marine species. It recognized the illegal trade's damage to ecosystems and rural livelihoods, and that it undermines good governance, rule of law and threatens national security.⁴²

UNEA further reaffirmed both the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) resolution 2013/40 and UN Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice's resolution 23/1's calls for making illicit trafficking in protected species and forest products into a serious crime as defined by UNTOC.

Environmental crime needs broader definition



Figure 2: Although the definition of "environmental crime" is not universally agreed, it is most commonly understood as a collective term to describe illegal activities harming the environment and aimed at benefitting individuals or groups or companies from the exploitation of, damage to, trade or theft of natural resources, including serious crimes and transnational organized crime.

It also reaffirmed UN General Assembly A/RES/68/193's emphasis on the centrality of coordinated action to eliminate corruption and disrupt illicit networks.⁴³ UNEA welcomed the creation of ICCWC⁴⁴ and promoted further cross-agency cooperation, regional and international cooperation. The Assembly specifically called upon countries to actively engage in on-the ground activities, such as under the auspices of ICCWC and urged further analysis of environmental impacts from the illegal trade in wildlife products.⁴⁵

In April 2016 the first IUCN World Environmental Law Congress convened in Rio de Janeiro. The event is part of a series designed to strengthen the work of judiciaries in implementing the rule of law. The participants in Rio offered a definition of 'environmental rule of law' as "the application of the rule of law at local, national, regional and international levels in the environmental context."⁴⁶ They further declared that:

- Strengthening the rule of law in the environmental arena is critical to the achievement of environmental sustainability and sustainable development.
- Without the rule of law and enforcement of legal rights and obligations, environmental governance, conservation and protection may be arbitrary, subjective and unpredictable.⁴⁷

The Chief Justices, Heads of Jurisdictions, Attorneys Generals, Auditors General, Chief Prosecutors and other high-ranking representatives gathered in Rio agreed on a list of seven core principles to strengthen the environmental rule of law.

Implementation and enforcement

Despite the arrival of the environmental rule of law paradigm, implementation and compliance remain critical. Hundreds of treaties and nonbinding legal instruments and documents containing international goals and objectives exist. UNEP notes that among the 90 most important environmental goals and objectives, only four have had significant progress.⁴⁸

In the follow up to the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) resolution 1/3 on illegal wildlife, UNEP is working on a regional project under GEF-6 to combat illegal wildlife trade in Asia with local stakeholders and Interpol. Another initiative is UNEP's collaboration with 25 countries under the Regional Enforcement Network to build capacity in enforcement, including customs officials.⁴⁹

In order to advance the rule of law in Africa, for example, implementation of the development priorities and strategies in the region rely on vehicles such as Agenda 2063: The Africa We Want and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. In addition, the UNEP Bali Guidelines Implementation Guide and the Rio Principle 10 provide guidance for cooperation in implementation at the regional and sub regional levels. Key ingredients include information disclosure, implementable and enforceable laws, implementation and accountability mechanisms, coordination of roles, and treating environmental crimes as serious crimes.⁵⁰

Similar language came out of the World Environmental Law Congress in Rio in April 2016, where participants made specific recommendations for implementation mechanisms. They included, but were not limited to, monitoring and reporting systems; anti-corruption measures; environmental assessments; coordination mechanisms such as regional enforcement networks, intelligence sharing and judicial cooperation; linking environmental crimes to other crimes such as money laundering, and strengthening courts' capacity as guarantors of the environmental rule of law.⁵¹

Progress is being made. Courts the world over now address environmental issues, with more than 50 states having established specialized environmental courts and tribunals.⁵²

CITES (see especially decisions and resolutions following COP 16),⁵³ WCO, INTERPOL⁵⁴ and UNODC (such as on capacity building and judiciary training and support),⁵⁵ are the mandated institutions to address the Illegal Trade in Wildlife, but represent only a part of the wider environmental crimes. UNODC has with the help of other partners in ICCWC produced a Wildlife and Forest Crime Toolkit, which provides enforcement indicators.⁵⁶

Other institutions with relevant tools and mandates are the UN Security Council, including Subsidiary Organs Branch and the Sanctions committees, World Bank, UNFCCC, UNDP, FAO, DPKO, UNESCO, CCPJC, UNOCC, DSS, OCHA and OECD.

On customs, the 2004 established UNODC-WCO Container Control Programme (CCP) has been successful in targeting sea and dry port container shipments in an increasing number of countries. The cornerstone of the Programme is the creation of inter-agency Port Control Units (PCUs) in which capability is developed and maintained to carry out risk assessments and targeted control and examinations of containers. The CCP is essentially a long-term capacity building programme that develops effective and sustainable port controls through the establishment of Port Control Units. These provide a coordinated approach to container and air freight profiling, targeting and examination, are located in secure environments (usually inside ports and airports) and are staffed by front line officers who are provided with structured training to ensure effective targeting and examination of containers.

The WCO web-based ContainerCOMM information exchange system, developed and continuously enhanced by the WCO, represents the core of the encrypted multi-language (in Dari, English, French, German, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish, Urdu and soon in Vietnamese) information





sharing and is the vital communication component of the CCP. The Programme grants the system for free to all the PCUs, CCP trainers and experts, relevant agencies and organizations and WCO members, both in the developed and developing world. This communication platform has the potential to be the pathway for port- to-port communication on illicit trade at global level.

Seizures include not only counterfeits and drugs, but also wildlife and timber products, and ozone depleting substances. On 23 and 29 January 2014 for example, two containers were seized in Lome, Togo. They contained 3.8 tonnes of ivory and 266 teak logs. The seizures also led to arrests. INTERPOL with support from various bilateral partners and UNODC and WCO, were able to alert authorities in Malaysia, Vietnam and China of this and other shipments in transit. Seizures have included a variety of environmental contraband: containers

with shark fins in Ecuador (2012); containers with protected timber in Panama and Ecuador (2012); containers with stuffed animals (lioness, zebra, different deer) in Senegal (2012); sea cucumbers, sea horses and *Teca rolliza* in Ecuador; 5 containers with Guayacan wood, rosewood Dalbergia retusa and Madera tecas in Panama (2012); six tons of ivory in Malaysia and Togo (2013); 5 containers of rosewood Dalbergia retusa (2013) in Panama; 10 containers of rosewood Dalbergia retusa in Panama (2014); 3815 kg ivory, 55 kg pangolin and 266 teak logs in Togo (2014); container with 37,298 kg AKMA Refrigerant Gas R-22 (Chloro-difuoromethane) ozone depleting substances in Pakistan in 2014; 5 containers with sea cucumbers, Balsamo sp. and Cocobolo in Panama (2015); 1 container with R22 in Paraguay (2015); 1,023 kg ivory and 4 tons of pangolin scales in Vietnam (2015); 3 containers with ozone depleting substances in Ghana (2016) and 3 containers with Red Sandalwood in Malaysia (2016).57



A network of international organizations to combat environmental crime Selected international actors involved in assisting countries in combating environmental crimes



Figure 3: The need for coordination and collaboration on information and analysis: The informal framework of UN agencies, IGO's and INTERPOL influenced by environmental crimes. CITES has a specific role for the illegal wildlife trade, however, far more agencies are influenced by wider environmental crime. The illustration is in no way a formal presentation of mandates, merely an illustration of the range of some of the UN entities, protocols and conventions engaged and significantly affected by environmental crime.

The rising transnational environmental crime smuggling networks






Growth in environmental crime

Assessing the growth rate of a form of crime can be extremely difficult, given that criminals do not hand over statistics of their illegal activities. Other measures such as number of seizures is also influenced by customs attention, coverage and efficiency. Another factor is the scope of ever changing scams, as well as changing smuggling routes. Homicides and financial crimes are to some extent reported or can be found in some countries' public conviction databases. Many environmental crimes, by contrast, remain unregistered in spite of the massive scale. This has been a primary cause of low awareness of both the scale and the different *modi operandi* of effective laundering methods in the enforcement sector.

However, looking at different statistics across the last 5–10 years there are some indications:

CITES maintain statistics over registered and reported incidents, over 79,000 in 2014. The number of reported incidents have varied substantially, stable in the last five years but increased substantially in the last decade, rising by a growth rate of 5–15% annually.⁵⁸ CITES also notes that there is increasing attention on illegal trade in wildlife.⁵⁹

The number of rhinos killed has risen dramatically in the last decade from 13 reported in 2007 to 1,338 in 2015. Nonetheless, the increase in poaching has slowed down due to intensified law enforcement efforts and expenditure.⁶⁰ PIKE (proportion of illegally killed elephants from the CITES-MIKE monitoring programme showed a steady growth 2003–2011, but slightly declining and levelling off in recent years, but with levels unchanged and unacceptably high in 2015 compared with 2013 and 2014.⁶¹ This corresponds with the dramatic 62% decline in the forest elephant population 2002–2011, and a 30% loss of geographical range⁶² with particularly Central and West Africa and specific sites in Eastern (Ruaha-Rungwa and Chewore) and Southern Africa (Kruger) hit hard recently.⁶³

On other products such as forests, previous reports have pointed to dramatic rise in alleged plantation fronts for laundering wild tropical timber in Indonesia during the mid 2000s. Here, the official records of the percentage of illegally logged timber dropped dramatically from 2004–2008, and the area of plantations remained nearly constant. However, the amount of logs sold through plantations increased by 300% or by an annual growth rate of ca. 25% in just five years.⁶⁴ Plantations were used to launder "wild" wood, most of them of the alleged "plantations" were only fronts with no actual land area.

E-waste has been reported estimated to increase from an estimated 41.8 million metric tonnes (Mt) of e-waste in 2014 to 50 Mt already by 2018.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁶ with substantial involvement of a billion USD illegal trade as reported by UNEP, INTERPOL and UNODC, accounting for 3.75 billion USD in Southeast Asia and Pacific alone in 2013.⁶⁷ If the share of criminal activities remains constant in the projected increase, this would still account for a minimum growth rate of 4.5%. However, as for other factors, much more intelligence, information and analysis is urgently required.

If some of the numbers are used above, the last decades have seen a rise in environmental crimes by an annual growth rate of possibly in the range of at least 5–7%, with examples as high as 2I-28% in some species and items. This compares to a global population growth rate of ca. $I.18\%^{68}$ percent and a global GDP growth rate of ca. $2.4\%^{69}$

Interestingly, the growth rate of environmental crime closely corresponds with the GDP growth rate in many Asian states (5.I–7.5%)⁷⁰⁻⁷¹ that are primary recipients of illegal wildlife products, ozone-depleting substances or substitutes such as CFCs and HCFCs, chemicals and waste. Hence, the growth rate in environmental crimes may indeed by 2–3 times that of the global economy. Such estimates have very considerable uncertainty. However, they can be compared to the interest from the UN Security Council on organized crime:

The attention has increased in the highest level of the UN over the wider role of organized crime for peace and security: While the mention of organized crime in statements from the UNSC has hardly changed since 2008 – the number of resolutions including organized crime has increased annually by a "growth rate" 26%, reflecting rising concern.

Hence, while there is progress in combating environmental crimes in individual and significant cases, the rise in environmental crimes is rapid – and a significant threat to development, peace and security.



Illegal wildlife trade

Estimates of the illegal trade in wildlife are generally around 7–23 billion dollars annually,⁷²⁻⁷⁵ including anything from insects, reptiles, amphibians to mammals. It concerns both live and dead specimens or even products made from wildlife or plants. The specimens and products are used for pharmaceutical, ornamental or traditional medicinal purposes. Illegal harvest and trade includes a range of species from iconic ones like gorillas, orangutans, elephants, tigers, rhinos, Tibetan antelopes and pangolins to corals, birds, reptiles and sturgeon for caviar. These species often constitute significant financial transactions, both for national economies as well as to black markets. Due to lack of clear definitions, the boundaries between different types of environmental crimes is sometimes unclear.

Organized environmental criminal networks increasingly operate like global multinational businesses, connecting local resources to global markets through complex and interlinked networks often embedded in the business community and in government, sometimes including those tasked with protecting wildlife. Crime groups coordinate through harvesting, trading, and transporting networks to subvert national and international laws and move wildlife products to market.76 A financier who can supply weapons and material to poaching parties often directs harvesting networks. Harvesting networks can include poor villagers, park rangers, professional hunters, conservation authorities as well as large poaching gangs such as rebel groups or insurgents working under the direction of a financier.77 Involvement by the political elite in poaching syndicates greatly increases the number of illegal kills and can directly contributes to high rates of poaching.78

In the long term organized wildlife crime, enabled by corruption, contributes to the erosion of the state across the continent, challenging countries to control their own borders, resources, and government policies. As illicit economies grow and political power is looted by transnational criminal organizations states will weaken further in a vicious cycle of state degradation accompanied by increased foreign illicit trade. Corruption is one of the most effective and pernicious weapons of organized crime.79 Organized crime, non-state armed actors, and to some extent armed groups affiliated with the state, benefit when the state is weakened by corruption.⁸⁰ Government complicity in organized crime undermines the confidence of local populations in their government.⁸¹ Rule of law is undermined through corruption of law enforcement and the judiciary. Government officials, when implicated in transnational crime, are rarely prosecuted, further undermining government legitimacy.82



Transnational crime robs governments of the funds required to perform primary functions related to fighting corruption, controlling borders, and developing the economy, among other things. At the same time criminal groups inject resources into communities, undermining efforts at local government capacity building and legitimacy creation,83 undermining of the connection between states and societies. In the worst impacted communities individuals look elsewhere for economic and physical security.84-85 Illicit economies and traffics provide a source of employment and represent a large part of developing economies' income and can sometimes be the most accessible means to accumulation for impoverished communities.⁸⁶ Allowed to flourish, organized crime groups can develop local institutions and exploit grievances against government policies and resentment towards lack of development and lack of opportunity.87-88







Figure 5: Far over a million pangolins have been killed and trafficked in the last decade, making it one of the World's most targeted animals for the illegal wildlife trade. In 2015, Vietnamese customs officers trained by the UNODC-WCO CCP (Container Control Programme) seized 1,023 kg elephant ivory and around 4,000 kg of pangolin scales.



The rise in the illegal pangolin trade

Pangolins, commonly called scaly ant-eaters, come in eight different species, four located in Africa,⁸⁹ and four in Asia.⁹⁰ All Pangolins are listed in CITES Appendix II, but the Asian ones are listed with a zero annual export quota.⁹¹ Two Asian pangolin species are IUCN listed as critically endangered,⁹² and two as endangered.⁹³ The Asian species have been hardest hit by illegal trade, with shipments in tens of tons going from southeast Asian range states into China. The illegal trade is primarily in live pangolins, pangolin meat and scales. Demand in scales for traditional medicine and meat associated with luxury consumption primarily in China, and secondarily in Vietnam, drives the trade.⁹⁴

The scale of illegal, illicit and unregulated trade in pangolin parts is under-documented, making it difficult to precisely ascertain the size of the trade, particularly between Africa and Asia. Estimates have been made of seizures at 10,000 per year.⁹⁵ which if representing only 10% of the actual exploitation, makes IUCN's SSC Pangolin Specialist Group's estimate of 1 million individuals taken from the wild in the last decade, realistic.⁹⁶

These numbers lack resolution to distinguish between exploitation of the animal's skin (zero quota imposed on Asian

pangolins since 2000), scales (used for traditional medicine) or meat (equivalent of 55,000 pangolins worth of meat seized 2007-2015), which belong to distinct markets. About 20 metric tons of scales have been seized between 2007 and 2015.⁹⁷

The pangolins are potentially commercially extinct in China, which has made the regional trade take off since the 1990s.⁹⁸ Given recent seizures, it is safe to conclude that the trade is increasing in scope.

Myanmar has emerged as a main transit and source country, because of its geographic location, size and weak government. 52 seizures were made between 2010 and 2014 in Myanmar and neighbouring countries with a retail value of over USD 3 million.⁹⁹

All four pangolin species in Africa are listed as vulnerable, but the hitherto legal exploitation (given national legality) here is increasing, reflecting a shift of the centre of gravity of the trade from Asia, and this particularly applies to scales. Seizures of pangolin parts in Zimbabwe during the first half of 2015 totalled almost 8 tonnes. The seized parts originated in Uganda, Republic of Congo, Kenya and Nigeria. These quantities can be compared with seizures prior to 2013, which did not exceed half a tonne.¹⁰⁰

Elephants

The African elephant population was estimated to number 473,000 (definite and probable) elephants as of the end of 2013, down from about 1.3 million in 1972.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰² In the three years up to the end of 2012 an estimated 100,000 elephants were illegally poached in Africa, with annual estimates ranging from 30,000¹⁰³ to 40,000,¹⁰⁴ generating an average of 211 metric tonnes of illegal ivory per year.¹⁰⁵ The

African elephant is currently IUCN listed as vulnerable,¹⁰⁶ and CITES listed in Appendix I, except for populations in Botswana, Namibia, Zimbabwe, which are Appendix II.¹⁰⁷

The proportion of elephants illegally killed in Africa was peaking in 2011, but has declined slightly after 2013. Nonetheless, poaching rates are higher than normal growth rates for elephants. Three quarters of poaching takes place in Central



and South Africa, with one quarter in East Africa. Poaching hotspots include Pendjari (Benin); Garamba (DRC); Niassa (Mozambique); Katavi-Rukva, Ruaha-Rungwa and Selous-Mi-kumi (all Republic of Tanzania).¹⁰⁸

An estimated 39,500–43,500 wild Asian Elephants exist across 13 range states, with at least half living in India.¹⁰⁹ The Asian elephant is IUCN red listed as endangered,¹¹⁰ and CITES listed as Appendix I.¹¹¹ No reliable estimate exists on the level of illegal killing of Asian elephants. However one recent study from southern India found poaching to be responsible for 40% of elephant deaths, and 82% of male elephants.¹¹² Unlike the African elephant, where both males and females have tusks, only Asian elephant males have larger tusks, making them heavily targeted, which can skew populations.¹¹³



Figure 6: Ivory trafficking routes in Tanzania. South-eastern Tanzania and Northern Mozambique represent one of the hardest hit areas of elephant poaching in the World, illegally exported through Burundi and Tanzania and Malawi to Southeast Asia and China.¹¹⁴

Rhinos

There are two species of African rhinos, black rhino and white rhino. The 5,042–5,455¹¹⁵ critically endangered¹¹⁶ and CITES Appendix I listed,¹¹⁷ black rhinos are concentrated in South Africa, Namibia, Swaziland and Zimbabwe. The 19,682– 21,077¹¹⁸ white rhinos, IUCN listed as near threatened,¹¹⁹ and CITES listed in Appendix I and II.¹²⁰ live mainly in South Africa but some have been introduced to Kenya, Zambia and Cote d'Ivoire.¹²¹ In 2015, poachers killed at least 1,338 rhinos in Africa, the highest number in decades.¹²² South Africa, the country that holds the vast majority of the world's rhinos, lost at least 1,175 rhinos in 2015, down slightly from the record high in 2014, when 1,215 rhinos were killed.¹²³ As of o8 May 2016 363¹²⁴ rhinos had been killed in South Africa, which if the rate continues out 2016 will lead to 1037 rhinos killed. Kruger National Park was home to 8001–9290 white rhinos in 2014.¹²⁵ It has been the epicentre of the rhino poaching, with



Figure 7: Illegal trafficking in wildlife and smuggling and poaching of rhinos.

55% of South Africa's killed rhinos in 2011 and 2014, and 70% in 2015.¹²⁶ About two thirds of all rhino horn seized between 2006 and 2015 was destined for China or Viet Nam.¹²⁷

Asian rhinos come in three species. They are the greater one horned, with a population of 3,500 in mid-2015, the Javan rhino with 63, and the Sumatran with less than 100 individuals in existence.¹²⁸ The greater one horned rhino is IUCN listed as vulnerable,¹²⁹ while the other two are critically endangered.¹³⁰

Poaching is also a threat to Asian rhinos. Over 70% of Indian Greater One-horned rhinos were in Kaziranga National Park by 2008.¹³¹ with an estimated 2,401 rhinos in 2015.¹³² Poaching is currently a threat in Kaziringa with 123 rhinos killed between 2006 and 2015. The killing has increased strongly with 71 (58%) of these killed in 2013–2015.¹³³ The other major concentration of Asian rhinos are in Chitwan National Park, with 605 of Nepal's 645 rhinos.¹³⁴ The Nepal population has been under threat from poaching.¹³⁵ However, the population in-country has increased by 111 from 2011 to 2016.¹³⁶ But Chitwan has seen no poaching for the full year until mid 2015.¹³⁷

Rhino poachers in Africa have increased considerably in sophistication. Poachers tended to be a mixture of poorly equipped locals and assault-rifle equipped former military, police officials or game scouts with tracking and bush skills.



Now, however, poachers are even more sophisticated using high-powered .375 or .458 rifles or even cross-bows, and increasing use of helicopters and dart guns using immobilization drugs. Such methods and equipment require professional skills and access to expensive equipment.¹³⁸ This level of equipment and professionalism among poachers is not yet prevalent among elephant poachers. Highly professional poaching is sometimes called khaki-coloured crime, referring to the likelihood of it being conducted by industry insiders with veterinarians.¹³⁹





Forestry crimes

The involvement of transnational organized crime and advanced laundering is becoming more and more evident, even in forest crimes such as rosewood smuggling, illegal logging, or laundering of illegal tropical timber through "fraud" plantations, laundering the timber through paper mills and palmoil plantation front companies.¹⁴⁰ In some countries as much as 90% of forest are leased as logging concessions.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴² It is estimated that 62–86% of all suspected illegal tropical wood entering the EU and US arrives in the form of paper, pulp or wood chips, not as roundwood or sawnwood or furniture products, which have received the most attention in the past (see UNEP-INTERPOL, 2014).¹⁴³ In 2015, WWF-Germany conducted a follow-up fibre- laboratory investigation of paper to verify possible presence of tropical wood in a total of 144 different paper products.¹⁴⁴ Tropical timber was found in almost 20 percent, despite most of the companies having ruled out this possibility, further confirming the patterns reported by UNEP-INTERPOL in 2014.



Indeed, corporate crimes have become a key component of forestry crimes. Most crimes involve not the obvious direct illegal logging, but a system of fraud, tax fraud, forged permits or permits acquired through bribes, laundering of illegally procured wood and extensive smuggling operations involving even small fleets of timber vessels operating in Southeast Asia from logging sites to pulp and paper mills abroad. Shell companies, often palmoil or agricultural plantations or grazing (that rarely produce any primary products), are used through multiple temporary shell companies based in tax havens to acquire or lease land for agricultural purposes, but in reality only clearing forests for timber and pulp supply. UNEP and INTERPOL listed in 2014 some 30 different ways of conducting illegal logging and laundering illegal wood, including 1) Logging in protected areas: 2) Logging without permits in unprotected areas; 3) Illegal logging in conflict zones; 4) Logging in excess of permit or concession quotas; 5) Logging with forged or re-used permits; 6) Obtaining logging permits illegally through bribery; 7) Establishing or expanding palm oil, bio-fuel or other plantations; 8) Cattle ranching and soy production; 9) Widening road corridors, mining or other felling without a permit.





Illegal logging and log laundering



Figure 8: Over 30 different illegal logging and illicit wood laundering methods have been identified by UNEP and INTERPOL.

Illegally harvested rosewood from West Africa Rosewood is highly sought after worldwide for its pink or red-coloured wood, and therefore commands extremely high prices on the international market. Rosewood is a hard wood used to produce furniture, flooring and ornaments; some species also have an extraordinary acoustic quality and are often used in manufacturing musical instruments. Asia represents the main destination for illegally harvested rosewood driven by the high demand for rosewood furniture (known in China as the "Hongmu" industry).

There are currently estimated to be 3,000 Hongmu factories across 25 areas in China. State owned banks have made loans worth USD 75 million to Hongmu industry. For example, in just one town, Pingxiang, there are 2000 Hongmu businesses alone. As a result, the extremely high levels of demand for this timber species have led to the unsustainable depletion of rosewood trees, and a thriving illicit market for the trade of their timber. INTERPOL coordinated Operation Log, an operation to address the illicit trade of timber and forest products sourced in West Africa, including the West African Rosewood (*Pterocarpus Erinaceus* Spp). Nine countries participated in this operation; Benin, Burkina Faso, Cote d'Ivoire, Gambia, Ghana, Mali, Mauritania, Senegal and Togo.

This operation resulted in the seizure of illegally harvested rosewood with a value of USD 216 million (*information regarding the quantity of rosewood seized has been updated since the INTERPOL press release in November 2015*)¹⁴⁵ and the arrest of 44 individuals. Investigations are ongoing in the countries and information is being exchanged to dismantle the criminal networks involved in this trade.

The results of the operation raised political awareness about the quantity of illegal trade of rosewood sourced from the region, resulting in Senegal requesting the inclusion of *Pterocarpus Erinaceus* spp in CITES Appendix II.¹⁴⁶ This proposal has been co-sponsored by seven countries namely Benin, Burkina Faso, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Mali, Nigeria, Togo and Chad.



Figure 9: The economic impact of the criminal behaviour relating to illegal logging and the export of West African rosewood can be reflected by the huge differences between the price at the logging stage compared to the export price (as identified in the framework of INTERPOL Operation Log)



Fisheries crimes

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization, 29% of global fish stocks were overfished or extinct in 2011 and well over half of global fish stocks are fully exploited.¹⁴⁷ At the same time, fish and fish-products are 20% of the source of animal protein for 3 billion people around the world and the fish and fish-farming industry secures the livelihoods of between 10 and 12 per cent of the global population, most of these in developing countries.¹⁴⁸

It is estimated that on average 18% (geographically ranging 3–37%) of the global catch, or as much as 11–26 million tons of fish, is caught illegally each year.¹⁴⁹ Illegal fishing undermines food security, livelihoods, fisheries management and biodiversity.¹⁵⁰ Illegal fishing threatens the subsistence existence of coastal communities worldwide, but particularly in developed countries with weak governance structures. The UN General Assembly has therefore repeatedly called for more knowledge about the links between illegal fishing and organised crime.¹⁵¹

There are several inherent factors that make the fisheries sector particularly susceptible to crime.¹⁵² The industry is a truly global enterprise, with fish caught both in areas within and outside national jurisdiction, and in remote areas beyond the scrutiny of ordinary law enforcement agencies. There is great mobility of actors, infrastructure (vessels) and commodities. Added to this is a vague international legal framework governing the law of the sea, which fails in many respects to fully take on board the implication of transnational organised crime taking place at sea and particularly in the fisheries sector. An example of this is that, despite the well-documented harmful consequences of allowing anonymous ownership of vessels in states that are unable or unwilling to exercise their law enforcement jurisdiction over the vessels on their flag, this practice continues unabated. Since the turn of the millennium this trend has but increased. Of particular concern is that private companies can, and do, buy the right to register vessels in vulnerable flag states in order to offer vessel owners the opportunity to register their vessels in countries unable or unwilling to enforce their laws over them. These companies sell impunity to criminals at sea.

In 2013 INTERPOL established a focus project to assist its member states investigate criminal offences committed within the fisheries sector.¹⁵³ Fisheries crime offences typically range from fraud and forgery, to breaches of regulations and associated crimes, such as human trafficking and trafficking in illicit goods.¹⁵⁴ It involves criminal organisations organised as mafia-style hierarchies such as the Vidal family¹⁵⁵ and looser network configurations, to state corporate criminals operating with the implicit support of their governments.¹⁵⁶



In one recent case a fishing vessel was arrested on suspicion of being stateless, which was later confirmed. The documents on board the vessel pertaining to vessel identity and safety certification were confirmed to be forgeries. There was strong suspicion that the crew had not been paid, fraudulent commercial invoices had been issued, and income was most likely never declared to the revenue services. Over a more than ten-year period this one vessel had probably caught an estimated 10.000 tons of Patagonian toothfish with a market value (in today's terms) of USD 200-300 million. Of equal concern was the fact that the vessel engaged in an extremely harmful fishing method using gillnets, which involves the setting of nets of up to 150 km of length. There are a worrying number of reports that these gillnets are left behind in the Southern Ocean when they snag and break off or if the vessel flees to avoid detection, killing entangled fish.

There is moreover mounting evidence that the vulnerabilities of the fisheries sector (their geographical reach, coupled with vague legal regulation) make the industry susceptible to crossover crimes, such as drug and weapon trafficking, murder and trafficking. In March 2016 both Australian and French navies have detected fishing dhows filled with weapons headed for Somalia.¹⁵⁷ Recently a youtube video depicts the ramming of smaller fishing vessels and the execution of a number of men clinging to a sinking raft in what appears to be an organised attack by persons on board a fleet of tuna long-liners. There are also concerns about connections between illegal dynamite or blast fishing and explosives used for terrorist activities in Tanzania and rebel groups in DRC.

A common denominator of all of these cases is that the criminal activities are difficult to detect and the offenders are difficult to investigate and prosecute. The jurisdictional limitation to pursue these vessels and the persons on board them, coupled with the difficulty of identifying vessels, vessel movement and ownership, seriously undermine law enforcement action.

By contrast to IUU fishing, "Fisheries Crime" is a term applied to the enabling crimes or associated criminal activity conducted by national or transnational organised crime business models in fisheries value chains. It includes crime in the whole fisheries sector from harvest to processing, to logistics, transport, trade in the products, branding (including food fraud) and the traditional fraudulent criminal activities of nationals committed in multiple jurisdictions such as conspiracy, extortion and bribery. At every stage in the fisheries sector value chain criminal abuses of registries, customs regulations, government documentation, tax frauds, forced labour, labelling fraud, and secrecy jurisdictions are regularly exploited to maximise the criminal profits from IUU fishing.









Waste, pollution

The global waste sector, valued at at least USD 410 billion a year,¹⁵⁸ takes several forms – firstly a legal industry sustaining business and environmental protection, secondly an unregulated sometimes even informal business, that is important for recycling and job creation as well, but with health risks and challenges of monitoring the safety and sound management.¹⁵⁹ Thirdly, trafficking in hazardous waste and chemicals by organized crime.



The Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions are the primary instruments for tracking and managing hazardous waste and chemicals, along with other initiatives such as the UN Solving the E-waste Problem (StEP) Initiative on electronic waste. Waste is often deliberately classified as other items to bypass or deceive law enforcement authorities. This is often done by using non-hazardous waste codes for hazardous wastes or using product codes for hazardous wastes or disguised as second hand goods. Key destinations for large-scale shipments of hazardous wastes, such as electrical and electronic equipment, include Africa and Asia, and lack of resources for monitoring or control of an emerging market makes it a low-risk business also for organized crime. This, in turn undermines both the reputation and competitive situation for both legal businesses and informal businesses alike, where the legal businesses have the by far highest costs due to environmental guidelines and health protection of employees and of handling and tracking toxic material.



Global illegal waste traffic

Figure 10: Illegal trafficking routes of hazardous waste.



Sources: United Nations Statistical Division, 2011; UNODC, Transnational Organized Crime in East Asia and the Pacific, 2013; Impel-TFS, 2006, Threat Assessment Project, and WorldCustoms Organization (2009) Operation Demeter final report, supplemented with data from the Dutch national audit, appeared in the Coordinated audit on the enforcement of the European Waste Shipment Regulation

White collar environmental crimes

The links of environmental crimes to money laundering, hacking, fraud and tax evasion by transnational organized criminal networks

The heavier transnational organized criminal networks, experienced in white collar crimes also – have embraced environmental crimes as an emerging black market with low risks and high profits. The crimes related to natural resources, waste and wildlife include tax fraud, double counting, transfer mispricing, money laundering, internet crimes and hacking, phishing/identity theft, securities fraud, financial crimes, and fraudulently reclaim carbon credits, as shown by some of the many examples investigated by INTERPOL and EUROPOL in recent years.



Figure 11: Examples of organized crime groups.

These white collar crimes, including corporate crimes through a wide network of shell companies based in tax havens, involve serious crimes and vast sums of money that not only rob governments and developing countries of hard-needed revenues, but also undermine legal markets and businesses, even impacting stock markets. Organized crime also uses environmental crimes to launder money from drug trafficking. In Peru and Colombia – which currently have the largest cocaine production in the world – illegal mining is by some claimed to be a viable alternative to drugs and the easiest and most profitable way to launder money from the illegal drug trade in the history of Colombian drug trafficking.¹⁶⁰

Carbon trading is the world's fastest growing commodities market.¹⁶¹ The combined value of carbon pricing instruments were in 2015 just under USD 50 billion. Carbon taxes and



emission system trade sales generated over USD 15 billion in government revenues across the world.¹⁶² The vulnerability to crime of this trade derives from the market's immaturity and the intangible nature of the product, which is based on "the lack of delivery of an invisible substance to no one."¹⁶³

Another market is the trade in forest certificates (CRAs), that essentially enables landowners to offset their restoration obligations by paying for maintaining native vegetation elsewhere. The potential market for this in Brazil alone is trading 4.2 Mha of CRAs with a gross value of USD 9.2 + /- 2.4 billion, possibly becoming the largest market for trading forests in the world.¹⁶⁴ Also this has vast risks for organized crime and fraud and it is imperative as these trading systems evolve that substantial resources are given to the national and international police community, including INTERPOL and UNODC to help develop systems for prevention of the misuse and monitoring. Individual cases have revealed scams on carbon credits from tens to hundreds of millions of USD in individual cases.¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁶

In 2009 a Brazilian federal prosecutor, Bruno Valente Soares, conducted an investigation into charges that illegal timber from the state of Pará was being laundered as "eco-certified" wood, and subsequently exported to markets in the United States, Europe, and Asia. International buyers often pay an extra tariff or premium for eco-certified timber, while the alleged operations also involved forgery and fraud. The scheme allegelly involved up to 3,000 companies across Pará's timber sector. Laundering illegally logged wood through real plantations or illicit companies has sky-rocketed in Asia.

In Indonesia, the amount of logs allegedly produced through plantations increased from an official 3.7 million m³ in 2000 to 22.3 million m³ in 2008,¹⁶⁷ although it is widely known that only a portion of these plantations were actually established.¹⁶⁸ At the same the number of illegal logging cases in Indonesian courts dropped from a high of 1,714 in 2006 to only 107 in 2009.¹⁶⁹ In 2011, UNODC quoted officials in Indonesia that the number of plantation estates actually producing timber may be less than half of the officially quoted figures.¹⁷⁰ World Bank analysts in Jakarta are even more sceptical and suggest the area of productive HTI plantations may be no more than one-third of the officially quoted numbers.¹⁷¹

"White collar" environmental crimes include, like any other "white collar" crime, crimes such as corporate crimes, use of shell companies in tax havens, tax fraud, double counting, transfer mispricing, money laundering, internet crimes and hacking, phishing/identity theft, securities fraud, financial crimes, and fraudulently reclaim carbon credits, along with threat finance to terrorist and armed groups, to mention a few.



Environmental crime and threat finance to terrorism and conflicts

Both non-state armed groups, terrorist groups and other networks thrive on the exploitation of natural resources to fund their activities. Examples include Taliban funded by drugs,¹⁷² Janjaweed operating from Darfur into CAR and DRC, and LRA in DRC poaching elephants.¹⁷³ At least 40 percent of internal conflicts in the last 60 years have a link to natural resources.¹⁷⁴

Prior to African Union's intervention in Somalia made 38–56 million USD annually on the illicit charcoal trade, in circumvention of sanctions and ban by the UN Security Council. In the Amazon, armed groups are taxing both timber and coltan,

similar to what is done by non-state armed groups in DRC. FARC generate incomes by taxing coltan and an estimated 12 million USD annually by extorting illegal gold miners.¹⁷⁵ In the Trans-Sahara, armed groups are smuggling drugs, cigarettes,



Figure 12: Smuggling by transnational organized crime from eastern DRC to criminal groups, companies or individuals in Uganda, Rwanda and Burundi.



migrants and commodities for profit. Islamic State is heavily involved in trafficking of oil and antiques.¹⁷⁶

Armed groups across the planet are looking into environmental crimes as a low-risk high-profit source of revenue, depriving governments of revenues while threatening peace, development and security. Around 98 percent of the net profits from illegal natural resource exploitation – particularly gold, charcoal and timber – goes to transnational organized criminal networks operating in and outside DRC. Armed groups retain only around two percent – equivalent to USD 13.2 million per annum – of the net profits from illegal smuggling. This income represents the basic subsistence cost for at least 8,000 armed fighters distributed on



25–49 rebel groups per year, and enables defeated or disarmed groups to continuously resurface and destabilize the region.

A recent report by Global Initiative Against Organized Crime, consisting of around 100 of the World's leading experts against organized crime, highlighted the devastating impact of illegal mining and its links to both armed groups and drug

Criminal networks exploiting natural resources in conflicts and funding rebel group

According to some estimates, illicit natural resources exploitation in eastern DRC is valued at over USD 1.25 billion per year (USD 722-862 million if excluding diamonds also sourced outside eastern DRC). Of these amounts, an estimated 10-30 per cent (range USD 72-426 million per annum) goes to transnational organized criminal groups.

Annual net profits to organized crime is conservatively estimated to derive from: i) gold (USD 40–120 million); ii) timber (USD 16–48 million); iii) charcoal (USD 12–35 million); iv) 3T minerals (USD 7.5–22.6m); v) diamonds sourced mainly from outside the conflict zone (USD 16–48 million); and vi) wildlife, including ivory and fisheries, local taxation schemes, cannabis and other resources (USD 14.3–28 million).

(Quoted from UNEP-MONUSCO-OSESG. 2015. Experts' background report on illegal exploitation and trade in natural resources benefitting organized criminal groups and recommendations on MONUSCO's role in fostering stability and peace in eastern DR Congo. Final report. April 15th 2015. Available at www.unep.org and www.rhipto.org)

cartels in Latin America. In spite of declining prices recently, organized criminal groups engage in expansion of illegal gold mining. Estimates of the proportion of illegal gold mining are: About 28% of gold mined in Peru, 30% of gold mined in Bolivia, 77% of gold mined in Ecuador, 80% of gold mined in Colombia and 80–90% of Venezuelan gold is produced illegally. Hundreds of thousands of workers are employed, similar to DRC with some 500,000 artisanal and illegal mining jobs, often including labour trafficking and exploitation, sex trafficking and child labour.

Impacts on the environment are considerable – gold mining is one of the most destructive industries and illegal ignores legal requirements and restrictions by displacing communities, contaminating drinking water and polluting water and land with mercury and cyanide. Colombia has the largest population of displaced persons in the world, of which 87% come from areas with a heavy presence of illegal mining: Indeed, artisanal gold miners spill more than 30 tons of mercury in rivers and lakes in the Amazon region every year, poisoning fish and causing brain damage to humans living as far as 400km downstream. Cartels and militants often control the mines: GI reported that "In Sur de Bolívar, Colombia, 1,500 workers were employed at a mine owned by the wife of an ex-AUC leader and were not able to leave the area without being accompanied by the narco-paramilitary group operating in the area."¹⁷⁷



The UN Security Council on terrorist and armed groups' illegal exploitation of natural resources

The UN Security Council expressed concern in S/RES/2195 (2014) that terrorists benefit from transnational organised crime, and from the illicit trade in natural resources including gold and other precious metals and stones, minerals, wild-life, charcoal and oil. The resolution discusses Al-Qaida as an example of such a terrorist group.

The Security council has also expressed concern about the illegal exploitation and trafficking of natural resources by armed groups, for example in the case of DRC S/RES/1857 (2008); S/ RES/2136 (2014) and S/RES/2198 (2015). S/RES/2277 (2016) details particularly the Democratic Forces for the Liberation of Rwanda (FDLR); the Allied Democratic Forces (ADF) and the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) as examples of armed groups involved in illegal exploitation of natural resources in DRC.

There are few examples of terrorists directly funded by natural resources, but relatively many examples of armed groups funded by them. Al Shabaab (UN listed as SOe.ooi) are sanctions listed by UN's S/RES/1844 (2008) Sanctions List. They are also listed as a terrorist organisation by 8 states, including the UK and the US, and are affiliated with Al-Qaida according to the UN Group of Experts (S/2013/467). The Group of Experts (S/2014/726) have also documented charcoal's role in funding Al Shabaab with a market value of at least USD 250 million in 2013 and 2014, continuing the trend documented in 2012 (S/2013/440).

LRA (UN listed as CFe.002) with its leader Joseph Kony (UN listed as CFi.009) exemplify an armed group that is listed on the UN sanctions list, for among other things, elephant poaching (S/2014/42 para 232) and trafficking since at least 2014, and looting gold and diamonds.¹⁷⁸

Other examples where the UN Security Council has prohibited natural resources include:

- Oil imports to stop or limit funding to armed groups such as the military junta in Sierra Leone (1997–1998) S/RES/1132 and UNITA in Angola (1993–2002) S/RES/864 (1993); the 1991 coup in Haiti (1993–1994) S/RES/841 (1993).
- Oil exports from non-government controlled areas of Libya (2014–2016) S/RES/2146 (2014); S/RES/2213 (2015) and S/ RES 2278 (2016).
- Diamond exports from Angola (1998-2002) S/RES/1173 (1998); Sierra Leone (2002–2003) S/RES/1306 (2000) and S/RES/1385 (2001); Liberia (2001–2003) S/RES/1343 (2001) and (2003–2007) S/RES/1521 (2003) and S/RES/1689 (2006); Cote d'Ivoire (2005–2014) S/RES/1643 (2005).
- Timber from Liberia (2003–2006) S/RES/1478 (2003) and S/RES/1521 (2003).
- Charcoal exports from Somalia (2012-) S/RES/2036 (2012); its interdiction S/RES/2182 (2014) and S/RES/2244 (2015)
- Oil imports or exports including modular refineries involving Al-Qaida and Islamic State S/RES/2161 (2014) and S/RES/2199 (2015)
- Import of acetic anhydride benefiting the Taliban (2001–2002) S/RES/1333 (2000).








Addressing root causes of environmental crime

The root causes of environmental crime vary greatly, and subsequently the design, identification and implementation of appropriate responses must be carefully planned. Root causes are primarily the low risks and high profits in a permissive environment as a result of poor governance and widespread corruption, minimal budgets to police, prosecution and courts, inadequate institutional support, political interference and low employee morale, minimal benefits to local communities and rising demand in particular in Asia. For recruitment of low-level perpetrators at the frontlines, also poverty is a main concern.¹⁷⁹ Hence, organized crime have found a virtual free haven to engage.

Poverty as a driver

Poverty is considered a root cause simply because it facilitates recruitments of low-level perpetrators, smugglers or couriers. It is also major cause of especially poaching of bushmeat because poor people hunt to satisfy basic needs.¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸¹ Poverty as a cause of poaching is associated with losses of hunting rights, dispossession of land in favour of protected areas, and lack of employment and education opportunities.¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴

Local support for conservation does not necessarily follow from community programmes. The positive impacts of such programmes are often outweighed by increasing land scarcity, population densities and income inequality as well as increased wildlife crop raiding and illegally trespassing livestock.¹⁸⁵ The returns from the programme must exceed the returns from poaching by a substantial degree, such that it improves the local economy. In one study from the Serengeti poaching was found to pay better than any other activity, with USD 425 per year, compared with USD 118 for small business, USD 79 for crops, and USD 61 for livestock.¹⁸⁶ Nonetheless, in other cases potential losses of benefits from integrated conservation and development projects were cited as a deterrent against poaching, yet this was not as strong a deterrent as law enforcement.¹⁸⁷ This applies all across the range: Without minimal coordination, enforcement and prosecution in the sector of environmental crimes, recruitment opportunities remain high and the engagement of organized crime will continue to thrive and grow.

Demand as a driver

With large demand for anything from wildlife, timber, pulp to cheap illegal chemicals and unregistered gold and minerals, recruitment and illegal trade will continue, simply due to the lucrative nature of the business. Buyers place higher value on illegal wildlife products when they are considered rare and uncommon, which drives up prices. If supply side anti-poaching efforts are effective, they may nonetheless contribute to driving up prices.¹⁸⁸ The price of ivory has been



driven up by demand in China from USD 750/kg in 2010 to USD 2,100/kg in 2014, albeit dropping by 50% from 2014 to 2015.¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹⁰ At the same time ivory costs only about USD 150/kg in domestic markets in Africa, leading to enormous profits, even with the recent price drop. These prices also make it very attractive to invest in ivory, and stockpile it for future sales, when scarcity is higher.¹⁹¹ A culture of conspicuous consumption has historically been a key driver of demand, particularly in terms of ivory and rhino horn used for decorative and traditional medicinal purposes in Asian markets.¹⁹² Three quarters of urban Chinese who had consumed illegal tiger products preferred wild over farmed products, and 88% knew that it was illegal to buy or sell tiger products.¹⁹³

For illegal timber, the demand will continue to rise when prices are much lower than the at legal markets and controls are almost non-existent. Vessels and trucks openly transport millions of logs every year across borders or by sea, mixing with legal sources or classifying it as plantation wood or pulp from plantation wood or mixing with wood from other country of origin. Permits are rarely controlled or verified, making the



illegal trade extremely easy for perpetrators. Cases reporting mass-scale issue of false eco-certification permits, hacking of government websites for false transport permits and falsification of customs papers and transport permits, or use of false customs codes are widespread.

Organized Crime-driven root causes

After decades of efforts against drugs, prostitution and haman trafficking, with laws, customs, police and prosecution efforts, these traditional crime areas are perceived as higher risk – though still thriving. At the opposite scale are environmental crimes, which offer a low risk permissive environment, where items such as timber, charcoal, gold and minerals can be transported freely with a few bribes or even rudimentary falsified or purchased "permits". This situation is far worse for waste products and especially electronic waste: If perpetrators classify electronic waste as second-hand goods they can transport it carelessly and dump it. Hazardous waste can be mixed with ordinary waste and chances of inspections are negligible.

Illegal trade in wildlife products ranks after drugs, counterfeit products, and trafficking in humans in revenues, with USD 7–23 billion.¹⁹⁴ Compare this with meagre conservation budgets, with many parks relying entirely on park fees and donors to support enforcement and conservation: In Tanzania the wildlife sector was allocated just over USD 2 million in the government budget per year between 2010–2012, despite wildlife bringing in 80% of tourism income to the country.¹⁹⁵ in incomes from 2.8 million USD in 2004 to 0.8 million USD in 2008, the same period that poaching increased dramatically.¹⁹⁸ In spite of this, Tanzania has through the national plan approved by CITES and through the training of over 2,000 rangers in recent years, and with NGO-, IGO-, INTERPOL and UN-support managed to break the rising curve of poaching. Poaching is currently slightly declining. However, far more resources from the international community are required to help accelerate this success.

The situation is even worse in other sectors regarding transport of chemicals, waste including electronic waste, minerals and especially gold, where the illegal trade far surpasses the legal trade in many African and Latin American countries by a factor of 5–10.

Organized criminal groups, especially transnational, are a major threat and once established, they rarely today restrain themselves to one type of income market only. As recognized by UNTOC and INTERPOL, organized crime, including environmental crime, diversifies and it is dynamic, adapting to law enforcement tactics and technique. Sophisticated and far reaching networks are not only involved in poaching and smuggling, but conduct laundering of products and profits, tax fraud and forgery. These networks constitute a particular threat and establish, spread and thrive in countries with challenges in enforcement or judicial sectors.

Permissive environment root causes:

Many African countries and some Asian ones have some of the lowest number of police officers per capita, extensive challenges of corruption and dwindling budgets.¹⁹⁹ Cost estimates from the 1980s and 1990s assessed USD 200-400/ km² as necessary for effective enforcement. Selous Game Reserve, the largest concentration of Savanna Elephants in Africa, was in 2003 enforced at a cost of only USD 3/km², or about 1 percent of the recommended funding.²⁰⁰ The situation is also extremely poor for prosecution and courts/the judiciary in many developing countries, where the latter two are seriously under-resourced. Indeed, a regional breakdown between North America and the countries of southern Africa in terms of the relative expenditure on police, prosecution services and courts revealed that in North America 43% of these funds went to prosecution and courts, while only 16% in Southern Africa.²⁰¹

Such a degree of underfunding creates a highly permissive environment for poachers and international criminal networks. In addition, political interference from high levels tied to local powerbrokers sometimes undermine law enforcement officers' work, which leads to demotivated officers and inertia instead of initiative at the front line.²⁰²

Responding to environmental crime

Much of the international focus has centred around iconic species, as well as the illegal wildlife trade related to endangered species mainly listed under CITES. However, the wider range of environmental crime from corporate forestry crimes to carbon credit fraud, trafficking hazardous waste or involving threat finance to non-state armed groups and terrorist groups have not yet received a system-wide response. The collective impact is not only severely causing loss of revenues and undermining legal trade and businesses, it is also putting development, peace and security at risk.

Different needs must be recognized, and different tools are required depending upon whether environmental crime is a result of poverty and perceptions of restrained livelihood opportunities, or as a source of revenue by non-state armed groups including terrorists and militias, or by organized criminal networks – or a combination.

In the last decades many efforts have been dominated by voluntary actions and awareness programmes. For example, over 99% of the billion dollar REDD programmes and EU FLEGT have largely focused on voluntary agreements and NGO support. Programmes such as ICCWC,²⁰³ INTERPOL or national enforcement and security sector reform have received comparatively modest support in spite of major successes. Combining the successes of programmes such as REDD and ICCWC may lead to breakthroughs in approaches to natural resources management and stemming the tide of ITW.

Currently, the resources available on environmental crimes to CITES, INTERPOL, WCO and UNODC, primary institutions in reducing the global illegal trade, probably amounts to around 20 million USD (2016). This compares to a global trade worth 91–258 billion USD and representing losses in revenues to governments of at least 9–26 billion USD annually. By comparison the United States Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) alone in 2015 spent USD 442.6 million on international enforcement, compared with USD 1.59 billion on domestic enforcement.²⁰⁴

Interestingly, the largest success achieved on environmental crime was the Brazilian sector wide Plan for Protection and Combating Deforestation in the Amazon (PPCDAM) unparalleled by any in its enforcement lead and success.²⁰⁵ It has not been replicated to date. While many have attempted to take credit for this success, it was primarily a Brazilian led initiative with national funding, initiated in July 2003. Phase one 2004–2008 involved command and control through a focused and sustained effort by enforcement agencies. Over 41,000 fines worth USD 3.9 billion were issued, 700 were arrested and many prosecuted, one million cubic meters of tropical timber seized; 11,000 properties, equipment and assets were confis-

cated or destroyed, and nearly one million hectares of productive land (pastures and soybean) were embargoed.

Perhaps the most important key to the Brazilian success was that a single office was given full responsibility for coordination: the Executive Office of the Presidency in close collaboration with the Federal Police, with coordination and implementation with 13 ministries and more partners.²⁰⁶ The plan involved four primary components:²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁸ I) Command and Control (Executive office with the Federal police) including enforcement and satellite monitoring; 2) Regularization of land use and tenure; 3) Incentives for sustainable economic activities including interventions in soy and beef supply chains and 4) Expansion of protected areas and their enforcement.

The ozone layer is another example where a concerted response from the international community has turned the tide from reduction to recovery. The journey started with the scientific discoveries of the 1970s of the threats by chloro-fluorocarbons (CFCs) against the ozone layer.





Figure 13: The successful 76% reduction in deforestation in Brazilian Amazon was achieved through unity of command and unity of efforts. A task-force involving 13 ministries was created to elaborate a plan for combating deforestation. This plan, which became operational in March 2005, included actions within three areas: command and control (or law enforcement), regularization of land use and tenure, and incentives for sustainable economic activities (Source: Nepstad, 2014).





Deforestation in Brazil: 1990 (top image) and 2000 (bottom image)



Hailed as the most successful international environmental agreement ever, the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer plays an important role in reducing the illegal trade in ozone depleting substances (ODS) such as CFCs and HCFCs through the provision of many initiatives, including (I) customs training on a national and regional basis provided by the Protocol's Multilateral Fund for the past 23 years and primarily delivered by UNEP's OzonAction Compliance Assistance Programme, (2) the informal Prior Informed Consent (iPIC) mechanism launched by UNEP OzonAction in 2006, and (3) focused enforcement operations organised jointly between the Regional Intelligence Liaison Office of the World Customs Organization and UNEP OzonAction (Sky Hole Patching I and II).²⁰⁹

Thanks to the Project Sky Hole Patching I and II, about 800 tons of ozone depleting substances was reported to have been seized as of 2010. With regard to the iPIC, out of 211 consultations between government focal points in 2014 and 2015, more than 551 tonnes of illegal or unwanted ODS trade was prevented. Thanks to the increased vigilance of customs authorities and the transition to alternative technologies catalysed by the Protocol, the scale of illicit CFC trade was reduced and criminal markets have almost been eliminated.

However, the emergence of illegal trade in HCFCs illustrates that the situation is dynamic and requires continued vigilance. HCFCs are still widely used and will be phased out only in 2030. As this deadline approaches, the availability of HCFCs will



EXAMPLES OF ODS SMUGGLING PATTERNS IN ASIA AND THE PACIFIC

Figure 14: The illegal trade in ozone-depleting substances in the Asia-Pacific.

become progressively limited as a result of Montreal Protocol controls. The CFC case demonstrates how implementing environmental rule of law through global agreements can effectively both obtain environmental goals and also shut down a global illegal trade of commodities by providing no safe havens. The Stockholm, Rotterdam and Basel conventions are the conventions responsible for helping prevent the illegal trade in chemicals and waste. In 2013, UNODC reported that illegal trade in E-waste to Southeast and the Pacific was estimated at 3.75 billion annually or 1.5 times larger than the illegal trade



Figure 15: New e-waste trafficking routes in Asia (Source, UNEP 2015).

Highlights of 2015 INTERPOL Coordinated Operations (Wildlife, Fisheries and Forestry Crime)

Operation PAWS II targeting criminal networks involved in wild- life crime in Asia	Bangladesh, Bhutan, Cambodia, China, India, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Singa- pore, Thailand, Vietnam, with support from Australia, Canada, Russia, and the United States	The operation resulted in a number of significant outcomes, including the location of a Red Notice fugitive, the issuing of a number of Purple Notices and 305 arrests including arrests of middlemen in the tiger and ivory trades. The operation also resulted in the seizure of 12 big cat skins (including three tiger skins) and quantities of bones, 9.3 tonnes of ivory and 37 rhino horns, almost 2,000 turtles plus other reptiles, five tonnes of processed pangolin meat, 275 kg of pangolin scales, 282 pangolins and almost 1,500 tonnes of rosewood.
Operation Worthy II targeting ivory and rhino horn trafficking in Africa	Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Sudan, Swazi- land, Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia	The operation resulted in 376 arrests, the seizure of 4.5 tonnes of elephant ivory and rhino horn and the investigation of 25 criminal groups involved in the illicit trade. In addition to this, 2,029 pangolin scales, 173 live tortoises, 55 kg of sea cucumber, warthog teeth, big cat, pangolin and python skins and impala carcasses, as well as 532 rounds of ammunition, five firearms and two home-made rifles were seized during the operation
		The participating countries issued 25 INTERPOL notices, or international alerts, during Operation Worthy II: seven Red Notices for wanted persons, four Blue Notices to gather information about individuals, 10 Purple Notices providing information on common modus operandi, and one Green Notice warning other countries about known criminals. During the operation, Investigative Support Teams were deployed to Kenya and Tanzania and also to Asian countries including Singapore and Thailand where several tonnes of
		elephant ivory and minoceros norm were seized.
Operation Log targeting the illegal trade of timber in West Africa	Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Gambia, Ghana, Mali, Mauritania, Senegal and Togo	The operation resulted in the seizure of more than USD 216 million in illegally harvested rosewood (Pterocarpus Erinaceus) and other timber species, with 44 individuals arrested and the identification of key trade routes used by criminal networks to traffic illegally rosewood in the region.
Operation Amazonas II targeting illegal logging and trade of timber in Central and South America	Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guate- mala, Honduras, Paraguay and Peru	The operation across 12 countries has led to the seizure of more than 53,000 cubic metres of illegal timber – enough to fill 20 Olympic-sized swimming pools. In addition, 25,000 logs and 1,200 sacks of charcoal were also recovered, and more than 200 individuals were arrested. Types of timber with the highest risk for trafficking were pine, black rosewood, big-leaf mahogany, cedar and laurel – most of which are protected species.

Operation Stingray II

Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Norway and the United States of America Six vessels of interest were targeted: the SNAKE, THUNDER, KUNLUN, SONGUA and YONGDING, and PERLON (not subject to an INTERPOL Purple Notice).

As of May 2016, the SNAKE and THUNDER are out of service (sunk), and the SONGHUA, KUNLUN and YONG-DING are detained by law enforcement.



The Captain and two crew members of the THUNDER are found guilty in Sao Tome and Principe of multiple charges related to the sinking of the vessel in April 2015. Prison sentences range from 32 to 36 months, and a fine of EUR 14,000,000

Vessel PERLON has been sanctioned USD 3.5 million by the Malaysian Authorities

Only in 2015 6 INTERPOL Purple Notices and 17 Blue Notices were issued at the request of member countries to support national investigations in Indonesia, Malaysia, São Tome and Principe, Spain, Senegal and Thailand.

During these investigations, companies involved in a network of illegal fishing vessels were raided, nine people were arrested in two countries, and 17 remain under investigation on charges of organized crime, money laundering, document falsification, and crimes against the environment.

Operation Pescam

Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, el salvador, Guatemala, Mexico, Panama, Peru, Dominican Republic The operation resulted in the identification and disruption of criminal networks behind the illegal trade of shark fins, illegal trade of protected species such as Iguanas Maritimas, sea cucumber and sea horses; and the Illegal trade of bill fish called Pez Vela in Guatemala. in wildlife in the region, estimated at 2.5 billion.²¹⁰ UNEP estimated in 2015 that the trade globally amounted to amounted to 12.5–18.8 billion USD annually, however, the how much of this e-waste that was subject to the illegal trade or simply dumped, was not known.²¹¹

Programmes such as the UNODC-CCP represent the first really effective strengthening and building of a global system that can be useful for targeting ANY type of contraband, thus much more effective in preventing the tactical shifts by smugglers to new routes and commodities. Strengthening such programmes and building enforcement efforts across sectors will be more effective and generates fast-line communication systems, similar to the work of INTERPOL – on any form or type of transnational organized crime. Radical strengthening of these institutions will be required if the rise in transnational organized environmental crimes is to be curbed. This will also help enforcement and prosecution in other crime sectors through strengthening overall police, prosecution and judiciary resources.





Restoration case studies recovering from environmental crimes

Across decades, many local wildlife populations have been eradicated by poachers and habitat loss. Conservation translocations, the deliberate movement of wildlife for the purposes of conservation have helped protection and restoration of species. The IUCN Species Survival Commission (SSC) Reintroduction Specialist Group (RSG) and Invasive Species Specialist Group (ISSG) released in 2013 the IUCN "Guidelines for Reintroductions and Other Conservation Translocations."²¹²⁻²¹³

In the following, examples are brought to light of how populations were either saved from extinction from poaching in the last final phases due to dedicated efforts, or how they were lost during conflict or post-conflict periods where organized crime thrived, but yet later reintroduced.²¹⁴⁻²¹⁶





Rhinos in Nepal and South Africa

In Nepal, rhino populations dropped by 88% to 100 animals in 1960 in just a decade due to poaching.²¹⁷ A Rhinoceros Action Plan for Nepal was developed²¹⁸ and an intense protection scheme including the army and the Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation, and translocations of a total of 87 rhinoceros took place between 1986 and 2003 (at an average cost of USD 4,000 each). When the war gradually broke out in Nepal in 1996 tourism dropped by 41% in two years²¹⁹ and rhino numbers dropped by 1/3 in five years to only 408 in 2005 as they were targeted for profits by armed groups. Dedicated rangers and antipoaching units in Bardia and Chitwan National parks fought hard to rescue remaining rhinos at the height of the conflict. Even after the war the fight continued, now with intact organised criminal networks smuggling rhino horn through Pokhara and Kathmandu to China. As populations were at its very low, protecting the remaining was vital. Indeed, due to intense efforts Nepal celebrated in 2015 the third year (also 2011 and 2013) without the loss of a single rhino to poaching.

Another remarkable success was that of the southern white rhino in South Africa. In the early 1900s, only around 50 white rhinos remained. Targeted conservation efforts brought these back to between 19,682 and 21,077²²⁰ now the largest rhino population of all rhino species. But once again massive poaching is threatening these rhinos and entire different scale of efforts will be needed to prevent its fall once again.



Golden Lion Tamarin reintroductions in Brazil

In 2003, Brazil – and the World – could celebrate the downlisting of the status of the Golden Lion Tamarin (Leontopithecus rosalia), a primate, from critically endangered to endangered on the CITES list. The Tamarin only persists in a few patches in the Atlantic tropical rain forest in southeastern Brazil in Poço das Antas Biological Reserve, Fazenda União Biological Reserve and in some private land through the Reintroduction Program.²²¹

The reintroduction programme including breeding programmes not only contributed significantly to increasing numbers in the wild, but also to the protection 3,100 ha of their habitat, vital to their survival.222 Over thirty years of intensive conservation efforts managed to save this primate from extinction. Numbers remain uncertain, but are believed to have grown in recent years, but peer-reviewed documentation still lacking of population size, that is believed to be around 1,500 individuals, by some estimates over 3,000 individuals in 2014, although populations are vulnerable.²²³ Most of the remaining coastal Atlantic tropical forests in Brazil within the species' original distribution consists of smaller fragments too small to sustain populations. Fragmentation and isolation of remaining forest patches, and their connectivity, along with illegal hunting and predation, are the primary threats to the future survival of the species.²²⁴



Re-establishing elephant populations

Elephant populations have suffered greatly from poaching in the last decade. Over 2/3 of Africa's forest elephants have been killed,²⁵ and at least 1/4 of the World's elephant population have been killed by poachers in the same period across Africa and Asia.²²⁶ As a result, efforts not only to curb poaching, but also to bring elephants back are underway.

In Africa, countries like Angola are looking into strengthening elephant populations. The partly transboundary elephant populations in the Namibian Caprivi are wedged in between Botswana and Angola. Elephant populations grew to 120,000 elephants in Chobe National Park.²²⁷ Still, numbers remain low on Angolan side. Luiana Partial Reserve (PR) in south-east Angola was used by UNITA forces (National Union for the Total Independence of Angola). They killed elephants for both meat and sale of ivory to purchase arms and pay for salaries.²²⁸ Three aerial surveys of Luiana suggested that elephant numbers increased from 366 in January 2004 to 1,827 in November 2005 and elephants with satellite collars in northern Botswana and the Caprivi Strip migrate across the Chobe river.²²⁹

Indeed, the region, which has only modest potential for agriculture but a large one for tourism, has suffered by high abundance of land mines, that have been known to blow off feet and trunks of elephants. However, elephants largely adapted, and began avoiding areas with abundance of land mines to the extent that villagers often use elephant trails as a safe route through land mine infested country side. Indeed, recent research has confirmed these findings, that elephants can smell TNT and detect land mines, and hence, sometimes avoid them.²³⁰

The entire region including Angola, Namibia's Caprivi strip and Chobe National Park provide a unique opportunity for transboundary parks to help preserve and rebuilt elephant populations. On 18 August 2011 at the SADC Summit in Luanda, Angola, the Presidents of the Republics of Angola, Botswana, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe signed a Treaty which formally and legally establishes the Kavango Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area (KAZA TFCA).



Bringing back brown bears

The brown bear populations in Europe have increased both in size and extensiveness since the 1950's and consist of 17,000 animals, forming 10 populations mostly with native origin, and presently occur permanently in 22 countries.²³¹⁻²³³ The reasons behind the recovery include protective legislation, supportive public opinion, and practices making coexistence with people possible. As an example, the Scandinavian population, one of the largest in Europe, experienced a historic low number estimated to 130 individuals in the 1930s, due to state driven elimination policies reducing the population from 4–5,000 animals in the 1850's. The population slowly recovered during the last century due to bounty removal and finally official protection by law, and consist today of approximately 3,000 animals and is subject to controlled harvesting.²³⁴

Brown bears are poached in Scandinavia, and remarkably more so in the large protected areas of Northern Sweden with low public presence and low intensity of law enforcement (e.g. patrolling by provincial rangers), implying that although large protected areas can serve as refuges and source populations for large carnivores, these areas can also be sink habitats when poachers face a low risk of detection.235 Poaching and socio-economic conflicts e.g. depredation on livestock, pose threats especially to the smallest and recently established populations. In Austria the last descendent of three bears released between 1989–1993, had finally disappeared by 2011 likely due to illegal killing in combination with the small population size, and the population is now formally considered extinct. However, most populations of brown bears in Europe are either increasing or stable, but are still facing threats from habitat loss due to infrastructure development, human disturbance and low public acceptance.





Coordination of efforts

This report illustrates that organized crime is increasingly involved in environmental crimes and threat finance, the latter well recognized recently also by the UNSC in resolution S/RES/2195 (2014). The report also shows that criminals are becoming more advanced shifting from one wildlife species to another, from smuggling ozone depleting CFC and shifting to HCFCs as this market emerge, shift from regular VAT fraud to carbon credit fraud as the carbon credit market emerged, and shift to laundering illegal tropical timber through pulp and paper when customs target round logs or furniture and adopt a variety of "white collar" criminal methods including use of shell companies, tax havens, internet hacking, dark webs and fraud. Natural resources such as minerals, gold, charcoal and timber are exploited as new means of threat finance instead of drugs, diamonds and ivory. Criminal networks also shift locations geographically at high rates to circumvent limited enforcement efforts.

Designing appropriate and proportionate responses across the UN in partnership with countries will become the chief challenge ahead – from legislative responses, enforcement, investigation, customs efforts, in conflict zones addressing both security and preventing armed groups from benefitting from exploitation of natural resources – to prevention, community engagement, poverty alleviation and restoration of wildlife and ecosystems, to securing revenues and incomes from sustainable management of natural resources.

This also means that *efforts must entail targeted intelligence and information gathering on the smuggling routes, actors and causes* in order to design the best response.

This requires full engagement both in the enforcement and judicial chain, but also on prevention, alternative livelihoods support and restoration. To effectively increase the probability of perpetrators being caught and prosecuted, along with promoting sustainable business opportunities, *it is vital that the information and analysis is available to decision makers for designing appropriate and proportionate responses, designed specifically to the challenge at hand.*

In conclusion, a system-wide strategy, including in countries and across the international community, will be required to address the wider threats of environmental crime to peace, development, revenues and security. This, in turn, will provide the foundation and framework imperative to the sustainable management, protection, conservation and restoration of our ecosystems and the services they provide for the economy, health and wellbeing of the planet.









Conclusion

Characteristics of progress made, such as in Brazil and through the NIAPs (National Ivory Action Plans from countries through CITES), are that environmental, enforcement, economic incentives and development projects MUST be coordinated through a focal cross-agency lead point in-country.

This requires cross-sectoral and cross-agency collaboration both at national and international levels on information and analysis, prevention, enforcement and restoration of and from environmental crimes. Across the UN, this requires consensus building, information sharing and collaboration across agencies. It furthermore requires Unity of Command and Unity of Efforts on both coordination and implementation in concrete targeted country plans. This requires national coordination at the highest level with one lead agency and full coordination and cooperation with other relevant entities; Finally, it requires strengthening economic incentives, state institutions and awareness raising. This requires that plans for alternative livelihoods, economic incentives, consumer awareness also in recipient countries, along with possible restoration programmes are designed in full coordination with enforcement and protection. Once again, specific programmes must be designed for the full engagement, along with willingness and dedication from donor communities to coordinate their efforts through a focal point in-country, including from ODA support, to avoid duplication or uncoordinated efforts.

Recommendations

Reduce threats to security and peace: Strengthen the information collection, analysis and sharing, across sectors, in peacekeeping missions, Sanctions Committees and across the UN as a whole on the role of natural resource exploitation in conflicts and security in order to inform holistic responses towards securing peace, security and sustainable development. This includes integrating INTERPOL liaison officers in peacekeeping missions.

2 Rule of law: The international community must recognize and address environmental crimes as a serious threat to peace and sustainable development and strengthen the environmental rule of law at all levels to prevent safe havens including disrupting overseas tax havens, improve legislation at international and national levels, implement dissuasive penalties, substantial sanctions and punishments, capacity building and technological support, in order to enhance the enforcement and adjudication capacities in the area of environmental crime.

Beadership: Governments should establish central coordination and national cross-sectoral plans, with unity of command and unity of efforts, in coordination with the relevant UN entities, INTERPOL, and other relevant international treaty bodies and institutions, as appropriate, to combat the involvement of criminal organized groups in environmental crimes.

Financial support: Call upon the international development community to recognize and address environmental crime as a serious threat to sustainable development and strengthen the share of ODA to governance and judicial sector reform including to combating and preventing environmental crime. This should be targeted to capacity building and technological support to relevant agencies, national, regional and global law enforcement efforts against environmental crimes, such as information and analysis, inter-agency collaboration, enforcement, prosecution and the judiciary, especially in developing countries and fragile states.

5 Economic incentives and consumer awareness: Strengthen economic incentives, relevant institutions and awareness. This requires that plans for alternative livelihoods, economic incentives and consumer awareness also in importing countries are fully integrated and coordinated with enforcement efforts. Identifying best practices in behavioural change should be undertaken to reduce demand, including through a Communications Summit to address all points of this trade.

Contributors

Editorial team

Christian Nellemann (Editor in Chief), RHIPTO Rune Henriksen, RHIPTO Arnold Kreilhuber, UNEP Davyth Stewart, INTERPOL Maria Kotsovou, INTERPOL Patricia Raxter, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA Elizabeth Mrema, UNEP Sam Barrat, UNEP

Cartography

Riccardo Pravettoni, RHIPTO Philippe Rekacewicz (figure 11) Emmanuelle Bournay (figure 14)

Layout

GRID-Arendal

Contributors and/or reviewers

Miles Amoore, UNEP Michael Logan, UNEP Ibrahim Thiaw. UNEP Bianca Notarbartolo, UNEP Mette Wilkie, UNEP Monika MacDevette, UNEP Dirk de Langhe, UNODC (CCP) Ketil Ottersen, UNODC (CCP) Eve de Coning, PescaDOLUS Robert Costanza, The Australian National University Catherine Ayres, UNEP Allan Meso, UNEP Johan Robinson, UNEP Jafari R. Kideghesho, Sokoine University of Agriculture Ieva Rucevska, GRID Arendal Valentin Yemelin, GRID Arendal Neville Ash, UNEP Glen Salmon, Australian Fisheries Management Authority Alistair McDonnell, INTERPOL Tina Birmpili, Head of Ozone Secretariat, UNEP Shamila Nair-Bedouelle, UNEP Ezra Clark, OzonAction, UNEP Jim Curlin, OzonAction, UNEP

Photo credits

Australian Fisheries Management Authority 1 National Geographic Creative/Randy Olson 5 National Geographic Creative/Michael Nichols 6 iStock/enviromantic 7 iStock/ MsLightBox 8 AFP/Roberto Schmidt 9 INTERPOL 10-11 NTB scanpix/Paulo Santos 14 iStock/jocrebbin 15 WCS/Darren Potgieter 16 EPA/Watan Yar 17 iStock/Dirk Freder 19 iStock/ Jordanlye 19 iStock/dennisvdw 19 iStock/Josef Friedhuber 22-23 National Geographic Creative/Frans Lanting 24 iStock/ vongkiet 25 iStock/EdStock 26-27 National Geographic Creative/Randy Olson 28 UNODC 28 UNODC 28-29 Australian Fisheries Management Authority 29 Huib van Westen/ Human Environment and Transport Inspectorate, The Netherlands 32-33 National Geographic Creative/Ian Nichols 34 INTERPOL 38 EPA/Str 40 AFP/Tang Chhin Sothy **41** UNODC **42-43** National Geographic Creative/Beverly Joubert 45 AFP/Jimin Lai 46 National Geographic Creative/ Chris Johns 49 iStock/PaulFleet 49 iStock/stocktributor 50 AFP/Januar 51 INTERPOL 52-53 National Geographic Creative/Michael Nichols 56 iStock/Allan Brown 57 iStock/Steve Froebe 58 iStock/pidjoe 59 AFP/Alex Hofford 60-61 National Geographic Creative/Brian J. Skerry 62 iStock/Linda Steward 66 Reuters/Ahmad Masood 68-69 Reuters/Stringer 70 Reuters/Noor Khamis 71 AP/Christian Escobar Mora 72-73 National Geographic Creative/Minden Pictures/Jim Brandenburg 74 Redux/Ricardo Azoury 75 UNODC 76 Reuters/ Stringer 77 iStock/Viorika 78 iStock/luoman 83 INTERPOL 84 iStock/dan_prat 84 Runa Opdal Kerr, Norsk Gjenvinning Norge AS 85 AFP/Tony Karumba 86 iStock/Christopher Marin 86 Wikimedia Commons/Su Neko 87 iStock/mcbrugg 87 Wikimedia Commons/Francis C. Franklin 88 EPA/Jose Paulo Lacerda 88 Scanpix 89 Reuters/Mike Hutchings 90-91 National Geographic Creative/Michael Nichols 92 Reuters/ Finbarr O'reilly **108** Reuters Creative/Paulo Santos

Notes

- Development Assistance Flows for Governance and Peace," in Τ. Enabling Effective Development (OECD Development Assistance Committee). https://www.oecd.org/dac/governance-peace/publications/documentuploads/Dev%20Assistance%20flows%20for%20 gov%20and%20peace.pdf"
- Devastating Decline of Forest Elephants in Central Africa," Plos 2. One 8, no. 3; "Elephants in the Dust: The African Elephant Crisis," in A Rapid Response Assessment ed. Christian Nellemann (GRID-Arendal).
- "Increasing Attention on Illegal Trade in Wildlife a Visual Summary 3. of Key Events and Measures since 2012."
- "Analysis of the Environmental Impacts of Illegal Trade in Wildlife." 4.
- John Scanlon, "Cites Cop16, Bangkok 2013: A 'Watershed Moment' 5. for Combating Wildlife Crime," Natural Resources Policy & Practice (2013).
- "Decisions of the Conference of the Parties to Cites in Effect after 6. Its 16th Meeting,"https://cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/dec/ valid16/E16-Dec.pdf
- "Cites Cop16, Bangkok 2013: A 'Watershed Moment' for Combating 7. Wildlife Crime."
- 8. "Wildlife and Forest Crime Overview,"https://www.unodc.org/ unodc/en/wildlife-and-forest-crime/overview.html.
- "Environmental Crime,"http://www.interpol.int/Crime-areas/Envi-9. ronmental-crime/Environmental-crime
- "The Environmental Food Crisis: The Environment's Role in 10. Averting Future Food Crisis," in A UNEP Rapid Response Assessment (GRID-Arendal: UNEP).
- "Healthy Environment, Healthy People: Thematic Report Ministe-II. rial Policy Review Session Second Session of the United Nations Environment Assembly of the United Nations Environment Programme Nairobi, 23-27 May 2016," (UNEP).
- "Improving Awareness of Mercury Pollution in Small-Scale Gold 12. Mining Communities: Challenges and Ways Forward in Rural Ghana," Environmental Research 103, no. 2.
- "Environmental Effect of Mineral Exploitation in Nigeria," Interna-13. tional Journal of Physical Sciences 2, no. 2.
- "The Environmental Crime Crisis," in A Rapid Response Assess-14. ment, ed. Christian Nellemann (Nairobi and Arendal: GRID Arendal; UNEP).
- "Analysis of the Environmental Impacts of Illegal Trade in Wildlife." 15.
- 16. "Economic Commodity or Environmental Crisis? An Interdisciplinary Approach to Analysing the Bushmeat Trade in Central and West Africa," 35, no. 4.
- "Statement by the President of the Security Council S/Prst/2016/2 17. 31 March 2016," (UN Security Council).
- "Green Carbon, Black Trade: Illegal Logging, Tax Fraud and Laun-18. dering in the Worlds Tropical Forests," in A Rapid Response Assessment (GRID-Arendal: United Nations Environment Programme). "Resolution 2195 (2014)," United Nations Security Council, http:// www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/2195%20 (2014).
- "Total Tax Rate (% of Commercial Profits)" http://data.worldbank. τo. org/indicator/IC.TAX.TOTL.CP.ZS/countries?display=graph.
- "The Environmental Crime Crisis." 20.
- UNEP. 2015. "Waste Crime Waste Risks: Gaps in Meeting the 21. Global Waste Challenge,"ibid., ed. Nellemann C. Rucevska I., et al (United Nations Environment Programme and GRID-Arendal).
- Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing: A Report of the Conceptual 22. Framework Working Group of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (London: Island Press), chapter 2.

- "The Value of the World's Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital," 23. Nature 387.
- "Changes in the Global Value of Ecosystem Services," Global Envi-24. ronmental Change 26, no. -.
- "The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming 25. the Economics of Nature: A Synthesis of the Approach, Conclusions and Recommendations of Teeb .. "
- "Chapter 5: The Economics of Valuing Ecosystem Services and 26. Biodiversity," in The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: The Ecological and Economic Foundations, ed. Roldan Muradian Unai Pascual.
- 27. "Conservation Reconsidered," The American Economic Review 57, no. 4.
- 28. "Chapter 5: The Economics of Valuing Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity," 14 figure 3.
- "Environmental Crime the Trafficking of Wildlife and Timber," in 29. FACTS.
- "Environmental Crime." 30.
- Mark Shaw et al., "Determining Trends in Global Crime and Justice: 31. An Overview of Results from the United Nations Surveys of Crime Trends and Operations of Criminal Justice Systems," Forum on Crime and Society 3, no. 1 and 2.
- "Organized Crime,"https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/organ-32. ized-crime/index.html.
- "Organized criminal group" shall mean a structured group of three 33. or more persons, existing for a period of time and acting in concert with the aim of committing one or more serious crimes or offences established in accordance with this Convention, in order to obtain, directly or indirectly, a financial or other material benefit; "Serious crime" shall mean conduct constituting an offence punishable by a maximum deprivation of liberty of at least four years or a more serious penalty. (UNTOC Article 2 (a, b))
- "Resolution No.3: Ag-2014-Res-03: Interpol Response to Emerging 34. Threats in Environmental Security."
- "Directive 2008/99/Ec of the European Parliament and of the 35. Council of 19 November 2008 on the Protection of the Environment through Criminal Law (Text with Eea Relevance)."
- 36. "Cites and Wildlife Trade - How Cites Works and What It Is and What Isn't," (Ilia State University, Tbilisi).
- "International Trade Control Measures under the Basel, Rotterdam 37. and Stockholm Conventions ", ed. FAO UNEP, Basel Convention, Rotterdam Convention, Convention de Stockholm.
- "Synthesis of the 2014 Reports of the Scientific Environmental 38. Effects, and Technology & Economic Assessment Panels of the Montreal Protocol " (UNEP).
- "Ist Africa Colloquium on Environmental Rule of Law ("Nairobi 39. Statement")," ed. UNEP ..
- "Decisions Adopted by the Governing Council/Global Ministerial 40. Environment Forum at Its First Universal Session," ed. UNEP. Ibid.
- 4I.
- 42. UNEA Resolution 1/3 Illegal trade in Wildlife "Resolutions and Decisions Adopted by the United Nations Environment Assembly of the United Nations Environment Programme at Its First Session on 27 June 2014," ed. UNEP.
- UNEA Resolution 1/3 Illegal trade in Wildlife ibid. 43.
- The International Consortium on Combating Wildlife Crime 44. (ICCWC) is "the collaborative effort of five inter-governmental organizations working to bring coordinated support to the national wildlife law enforcement agencies and to the sub-regional and regional networks that, on a daily basis, act in defense of natural

resources. The ICCWC partners are the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) Secretariat, INTERPOL, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, the World Bank and the World Customs Organization. See also https://cites.org/eng/prog/iccwc.php/Action for an overview of ICCWC activities.

- 45. UNEA Resolution 1/3 Illegal trade in Wildlife ibid.
- 46. "Declaration on the Environmental Rule of Law: Outcome of the 1st Iucn World Environmental Law Congress" (paper presented at the IUCN World Environmental Law Congress, Rio de Janeiro, 17 May 2016).
- 47. Ibid.
- "Environmental Rule of Law: Critical to Sustainable Development," in Issue Brief.
- 49. "Implementation of Resolutions of the United Nations Environment Assembly of Unep and Future Priorities for Asia Pacific (Discussion Document for Session 5 Unea)," in First Forum of Ministers and Environment Authorities of Asia Pacific Bangkok, 19-20 May 2015, ed. UNEP Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific.
- 50. "Ist Africa Colloquium on Environmental Rule of Law ("Nairobi Statement")."
- 51. "Declaration on the Environmental Rule of Law: Outcome of the 1st Iucn World Environmental Law Congress."
- 52. "Environmental Rule of Law: Critical to Sustainable Development."
- "Decisions of the Conference of the Parties to Cites in Effect after Its 16th Meeting".
- 54. "Environmental Crime".
- 55. "Wildlife and Forest Crime Overview".
- "The Wildlife and Forest Crime Analytic Toolkit,"https://cites.org/ eng/prog/iccwc.php/Tools.
- 57. UNODC CCP, letter to UNEP Rapid Response Unit, May 17th 2016.
- 58. "Cites Trade Database,"http://trade.cites.org/en/cites_trade/.
- 59. "Increasing Attention on Illegal Trade in Wildlife a Visual Summary of Key Events and Measures since 2012."
- 60. "Iucn Reports Deepening Rhino Poaching Crisis in Africa," news release, 09 March 2016, http://www.iucn.org/news_homepage/?22519/IUCN-reports-deepening-rhino-poaching-crisis-in-Africa.
- "Trends in Levels of Illegal Killing of Elephants in Africa to 31 December 2015," (CITES).
- 62. "Devastating Decline of Forest Elephants in Central Africa."
- "Trends in Levels of Illegal Killing of Elephants in Africa to 31 December 2015."
- 64. "Green Carbon, Black Trade: Illegal Logging, Tax Fraud and Laundering in the Worlds Tropical Forests," 34.
- 65. "The Global E-Waste Monitor 2014," (Bonn, Germany: United Nations University; IAS-SCUCLE).
- 66. "Waste Crime Waste Risks: Gaps in Meeting the Global Waste Challenge."
- 67. "Transnational Organized Crime in East Asia and the Pacific: A Threat Assessment."
- "World Population Prospects, the 2015 Revision,"http://esa.un.org/ unpd/wpp/DataQuery
- 69. "Global Economic Prospects 2016: Spillovers Amid Weak Growth," http://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/global-economic-prospects.
- 70. Thailand, Vietnam (6%), Malaysia (5.1%), Philippines (6.3%), Lao (7.5%) and China (7.3%) 2013-2015. "Global Economic Prospects 2016: Spillovers Amid Weak Growth" http://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/global-economic-prospects.
- 71. "Global Economic Prospects 2016: Spillovers Amid Weak Growth".
- 72. "Transnational Organized Crime in the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking."

- 73. Environmental Crimes, (Zoi Environment), https://issuu.com/ zoienvironment/docs/environmental-crimes-ebook.
- 74. "Illegal Trade in Environmentally Sensitive Goods: Executive Summary."
- 75. "Green Carbon, Black Trade: Illegal Logging, Tax Fraud and Laundering in the Worlds Tropical Forests."
- 76. "What Sustains Wildlife Crime? Rhino Horn Trading and the Resilience of Criminal Networks," [- 2013/01/01.] Journal of International Wildlife Law & Policy 16, no. 1.

- "Poverty, Poaching and Trafficking: What Are the Links?," in Evidence on Demand (Evidence on Demand).
- 79. "Addressing the Nexus between Illegal Wildlife and Forestry Trade and Corruption," in Corruption and illegal trade in wildlife-6th Session of the Conference of the Parties to the UN Convention Against Corruption (UNODC Special High-level Event) (St Petersburg).
- "Crime, Illicit Markets, and Money Laundering," in Managing Global Issues: Lessons Learned, ed. P.J. Simmons; Chantal de Jonge Qudraat (Washington DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace).
- 81. "Termites at Work: Transnational Organized Crime and State Erosion in Kenya," in IPI Policy Papers and Issue Briefs, ed. Adam Lupel and Marie O'Reilly (New York: International Peace Institute).
- "The Evolution of Organized Crime in Africa: Towards a New Response," Institute for Security Studies 244.
- 83. "Unraveling the New Criminal Nexus," Georgetown Journal of International Affairs 6, no. 1.
- 84. "Nonstate Security Threats in Africa: Challenges for U.S. Engagement " Prism 2, no. 1.
- "A Game of Horns: Transnational Flows of Rhino Horn," in Studies on the Social and Political Constitution of the Economy (Cologne: International Max Planck research schoool).
- 86. "Crime, Illicit Markets, and Money Laundering."
- 87. Ibid.
- 88. "A Game of Horns: Transnational Flows of Rhino Horn."
- Tree pangolin, long tailed pangolin, giant pangolin, Temminck's ground pangolin.
- Chinese pangolin; Indian pangolin, Sunda pangolin and Phillippine pangolin.
- "Cites and Pangolins," in First Pangolin Range States workshop (Da Nang, Viet Nam).
- "Manis Crassicaudata (Indian Pangolin, Thick-Tailed Pangolin),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/12761/0. and "Manis Javanica (Malayan Pangolin, Sunda Pangolin),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/12763/0.
- "Manis Pentadactyla (Chinese Pangolin),"http://www.iucnredlist. org/details/12764/o. and "Manis Culionensis (Philippine Pangolin),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/136497/o.
- 94. "Pangolin Trade in the Mong La Wildlife Market and the Role of Myanmar in the Smuggling of Pangolins in China," Global Ecology and Conservation, no. 5: 119.; "Taking a Stand against Illegal Wildlife Trade: The Zimbabwean Approach to Pangolin Conservation," Oryx FirstView: I.
- 95. "Scaling up Pangolin Protection in China," Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 12, no. 2.
- "Scaling up Pangolin Conservation " in IUCN SSC Pangolin Specialist Group Conservation Action Plan (Zoological Society of London, UK IUCN SSC Pangolin specialist group), 4.
- "World Wildlife Crime Report: Trafficking in Protected Species " (Vienna).
- 98. "Scaling up Pangolin Conservation " 16.
- 99. "Pangolin Trade in the Mong La Wildlife Market and the Role of Myanmar in the Smuggling of Pangolins in China."

^{77.} Ibid.

- 100. "Taking a Stand against Illegal Wildlife Trade: The Zimbabwean Approach to Pangolin Conservation," 2.
- 101. "Provisional African Elephant Population Estimates: Update to 31 Dec 2013: Continental Totals Africa,"http://www.elephantdatabase. org/preview_report/2013_africa_final/2013/Africa
- 102. Committee on Foreign Relations, U.S. Senate, Ivory and Insecurity: The Global Implications of Poaching in Africa: Testimony of Iain Douglas-Hamilton Founder and Ceo, Save the Elephants 24 May 2012.
- 103. "Analysis of Ivory Demand Drivers," (Wildlifenews.co.uk).
- 104. In 2011 and 2012: "100,000 Elephants Killed by Poachers in Just Three Years, Landmark Analysis Finds," National Geographic, 18 August.; "Illegal Killing for Ivory Drives Global Decline in African Elephants," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, no. 36: 13119.
- 105. "Analysis of Ivory Demand Drivers," 26.
- 106. "Loxodonta Africana," IUCN Red List, http://www.iucnredlist.org/ details/12392/0.
- 107. "African Elephant,"https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/ african_elephant.html.
- 108. "Press Release: African Elephants Still in Decline Due to High Levels of Poaching,"https://cites.org/eng/news/pr/african_elephants_ still_in_decline_due_to_high_levels_of_poaching_03032016.
- 109. "Asian Elephant: Elephas Maximus,"http://support.iucnredlist. org/species/asian-elephant. "Elephants in the Dust: The African Elephant Crisis," 27.
- 110. "Asian Elephant: Elephas Maximus".
- III. "Asian Elephant,"https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/ asianelephant.html.
- 112. "Mortality Records (1979–2011) Shed Light on Threats to Asian Elephants Elephas Maximus Linnaeus, 1758 (Mammalia: Proboscidea: Elephantidae) in Nilgiris, Southern India," Journal of Threatened Taxa 7, no. 8.
- 113. "Asian Elephant: Elephas Maximus".
- 114. Nellemann and Henriksen, 2016, forthcoming. Peace and conflict sensitive context analysis (Peace, conflict and fragility) for Zambia, Malawi and Mozambique. Available at www.rhipto.org
- 115. "Iucn Reports Deepening Rhino Poaching Crisis in Africa."
- 116. "Diceros Bicornis (Black Rhinoceros, Hook-Lipped Rhinoceros), "http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/6557/o
- 117. "White Rhino,"https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/ white_rhino.html.
- 118. "Iucn Reports Deepening Rhino Poaching Crisis in Africa."
- 119. "Ceratotherium Simum (Northern WhiteRhinoceros, Square-Lipped Rhinoceros, White Rhinoceros),"http://www.iucnredlist. org/details/4185/0.
- 120. "White Rhino".
- 121. "Rhino Population Figures,"https://www.savetherhino.org/rhino_ info/rhino_population_figures. "Traffic's Engagement on African Rhinoceros Conservation and the Global Trade in Rhinoceros Horn,"http://www.traffic.org/rhinos/.
- 122. "Iucn Reports Deepening Rhino Poaching Crisis in Africa."
- 123. "Worst Year Ever for Rhino Poaching in Africa,"Nature, http:// www.nature.com/news/worst-year-ever-for-rhino-poaching-in-africa-1.19225.
- 124. "Rhino Poaching Statistics Update,"https://www.environment.gov. za/projectsprogrammes/rhinodialogues/poaching_statistics.
- 125. "Minister Edna Molewa Highlights Progress in the War against Poaching," news release, 10 May 2015, https://www.environment. gov.za/mediarelease/molewa_onwaragainstpoaching.
- 126. TRAFFIC, "Traffic's Engagement on African Rhinoceros Conservation and the Global Trade in Rhinoceros Horn".
- 127. "World Wildlife Crime Report: Trafficking in Protected Species " 71.

- 128. "Asian Rhinos,"http://wwf.panda.org/what_we_do/endangered_ species/rhinoceros/asian_rhinos/.
- 129. "Rhinoceros Unicornis (Greater One-Horned Rhino, Great Indian Rhinoceros, Indian Rhinoceros),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/ details/19496/o.
- "Rhinoceros Sondaicus (Javan Rhinoceros),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/19495/0. and "Dicerorhinus Sumatrensis (Sumatran Rhinoceros),"http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/6553/0.
- 131. "Rhinoceros Unicornis (Greater One-Horned Rhino, Great Indian Rhinoceros, Indian Rhinoceros)".
- 132. "Rhino Population Estimation 2015,"http://kaziranga.assam.gov. in/wp/wiki/rhino-population-estimation-2015/.
- r33. "Rhino Poaching Deaths in Kaziringa National Park 2006 to 2015,"http://kaziranga.assam.gov.in/wp/rhino-poaching-summary/
- 134. "Rhino Population Up,"http://www.chitwannationalpark.gov.np/ index.php/highlights/15-rhino-population-up
- 135. "Rhinoceros Unicornis (Greater One-Horned Rhino, Great Indian Rhinoceros, Indian Rhinoceros)".
- 136. "Rhino Population Up".
- 137. Ibid.
- "Rhino Poaching: A New Form of Organised Crime," (Report to College of Law Research and Innovation Committee of the University of South Africa: College of Law, UNISA), 6-7.
- 139. "Traffic's Engagement on African Rhinoceros Conservation and the Global Trade in Rhinoceros Horn".
- 140. "Oil Palm and Deforestation in Papua New Guinea," Conservation Letters 7, no. 3.
- 141. "Great Apes and Logging " (WWF).
- 142. "Justice for Forests: Improving Criminal Justice Efforts to Combat Illegal Logging " (Washington DC: World Bank).
- 143. "The Environmental Crime Crisis."
- 144. "Wwf-D Charges against Retailers: Pr and Background Information Eu Timber Regulation," (WWF Deutschland).
- 145. "Interpol Operations Target Illegal Timber Trade in Africa and the Americas," news release, 26 November 2015, http://www.interpol. int/en/Internet/News-and-media/News/2015/N2015-206
- 146. "Consideration of Proposals for Amendment of Appendices I and Ii: Pterocarpus Erinaceus."
- 147. "State of the World Fishing and Aquaculture 2014," 37.
- 148. Ibid., 6,66.
- 149. "Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing."
- 150. "Towards a New Fisheries Crime Paradigm," Marine Policy 60.
- 151. "General Assembly Adopts Two Wide-Ranging Resolutions Aimed at Strengthening World's Legal Regime for Oceans; Protecting Fisheries, Marine Ecosystems Ga/10899,"http://www.un.org/press/ en/2009/ga10899.doc.htm.
- 152. "Transnational Organized Crime in the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking."
- 153. "Fisheries Crime," in Handbook of Transnational Environmental Crime, ed. L. Elliott, Scheadla, W.H. (London: Edward Elgar Publishing).
- 154. Ibid.
- 155. "La Resolución Del Expediente De La Operación Sparrow Sanciona a 9 Empresas Y 7 Personas Físicas Por Su Implicación En La Actividad De Buques Que Han Incurrido En Pesca Ilegal," news release, 17 March 2016, http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/prensa/noticias/ la-resolución-del-expediente-de-la-operación-sparrow-sanciona-a-9empresas-y-7-personas-f%C3%ADsicas-por-su-implicación-en-laactividad-de--buques-qu/tcm7-415229-16.
- 156. "Corruption and State-Corporate Crime in Fisheries," ed. Aled Williams and Kendra Dupuy (Christian Michelsen Institute).

- 157. "French Ship Provence Seizes Large Weapons Cache,"https:// combinedmaritimeforces.com/2016/03/28/french-ship-provenceseizes-large-weapons-cache/; "Australian Navy Says Seizes Huge Weapons Cache Headed for Somalia,"http://www.reuters.com/ article/us-somalia-security-idUSKCNoW918C.
- 158. "Towards a Green Economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication."
- 159. "Waste Crime Waste Risks: Gaps in Meeting the Global Waste Challenge."
- 160. "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America".
- 161. INTERPOL Environmental Crime Programme, "Guide to Carbon Trading Crime," 24.
- 162. "State and Trends of Carbon Pricing," (Washington DC: World Bank; Ecofys), 30.
- 163. "Conning the Climate," Harper's Magazine. cited in "Guide to Carbon Trading Crime," 25.
- 164. "Brazil's Market for Trading Forest Certificates," Plos One 11, no. 4.
- 165. "Media Release: Interpol Warns Carbon Trading at Increased Risk of Criminal Exploitation,"http://www.interpol.int/en/News-andmedia/News/2013/PR090/.
- 166. "Understanding the Daesh Economy," Perspectives on Terrorism 9, no. 4.
- 167. "Lessons for Redd+ from Measures to Control Illegal Logging in Indonesia," in Working paper 74 (UNODC; CIFOR).
- 168. "Smallholder Timber Plantation Development in Indonesia: What Is Preventing Progress?," International Forestry Review 12, no. 4.
- 169. "Lessons for Redd+ from Measures to Control Illegal Logging in Indonesia."
- 170. "Mimpi Dengan Dua Juta Hektar.," AgroIndonesia, 30 Jan 05 Feb.
- 171. "Sustaining Economic Growth, Rural Livelihoods, and Environmental Benefits: Strategic Options for Forest Assistance in Indonesia " (Washington DC).
- 172. "The Global Afghan Opium Trade: A Threat Assessment," (Vienna).
- 173. "How Killing Elephants Finances Terror in Africa," National Geographic, 12 August.
- 174. "Environmental Rule of Law: Critical to Sustainable Development."
- 175. "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America".
- 176. "Islamic State Financing and U.S. Policy Approaches," (Congressional Research Service).
- 177. "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America " vii.
- 178. https://www.un.org/sc/suborg/en/sanctions/2127/materials/ summaries/entity/lord's-resistance-army
- 179. "Reversing the Trend of Wildlife Crime in Tanzania: Challenges and Opportunities," Biodiversity and Conservation 25, no. 3.
- 180. "Linking Conservation, Equity and Poverty Alleviation: Understanding Profiles and Motivations of Resource Users and Local Perceptions of Governance at Bwindi Impenetrable National Park, Uganda," (London: International Institute for Environment and Development).
- 181. "The Bushmeat Trade in African Savannas: Impacts, Drivers, and Possible Solutions," Biological Conservation 160.
- 182. "Toward a New Understanding of the Links between Poverty and Illegal Wildlife Hunting," Conservation Biology 30, no. 1: 17-18.
- 183. "Poaching Is More Than an Enforcement Problem," Conservation Letters 7, no. 5.
- 184. "Profiling Unauthorized Natural Resource Users for Better Targeting of Conservation Interventions," Conservation Biology 29, no. 6.
- 185. "Protected Areas, Poverty and Conflicts a Livelihood Case Study of Mikumi National Park, Tanzania," Forest Policy and Economics 21.
- 186. "Why Poaching Pays: A Summary of Risks and Benefits Illegal Hunters Face in Western Serengeti, Tanzania," Tropical Conservation Science 5, no. 4. cited in "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward," ibid.9, no. 1: 376.

- 187. "Profiling Unauthorized Natural Resource Users for Better Targeting of Conservation Interventions."
- 188. "Poachers and Snobs: Demand for Rarity and the Effects of Antipoaching Policies," Conservation Letters 9, no. 1.
- 189. "Analysis of Ivory Demand Drivers."
- 190. "Opinion: Can Elephants Survive a Continued Ivory Trade Ban," National Geographic, 15 September 2014.
- 191. "Can Elephants Survive a Continued Ivory Trade Ban?," National Geographic, 15 September.
- 192. "Elephant Poaching & Ivory Trafficking Problems in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Application of O'hara's Principles of Political Economy," Ecological Economics 120.
- 193. "Attitudes toward Consumption and Conservation of Tigers in China," Plos One 3, no. 7.
- 194. "Wildlife Crime Ranks among Trafficking in Drugs, Arms and Humans: An Economic Crime Perpetrated by Criminal Syndicates in the Most Remote Regions, Exploiting Local People and Lax Laws, "https://cites.org/eng/news/sg/2013/20130926_wildlife_ crime.php. "The Environmental Crime Crisis," 15.
- 195. "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward," 375. See also "A Performance Audit Report on the Management of Wildlife in Game Reserves and Game Controlled Areas ". and "About Tanzania Wildlife Protection Fund (Twpf),"http://www.twpf.go.tz/about/category/overview.
- 196. "The Potentials for Co-Management Approaches in Western Serengeti, Tanzania," Tropical Conservation Science 1, no. 4.
- 197. Tanzania paid out to anti-poaching activities from government (treasury + TWPF) in 2011/12 was TZS 10.2 billion / USD 4.66 million, up from TZS 8 billion / USD 3.66 million the year before. "A Performance Audit Report on the Management of Wildlife in Game Reserves and Game Controlled Areas ".. 74% of funds to TWPF come from 25% of proceeds from wildlife harvest in game reserves and open areas (so is essentially recycled), the rest is photographic tourism, grants, donors etc. "About Tanzania Wildlife Protection Fund (Twpf)".
- 198. "Mission Report: Reactive Monitoring Mission Selous Game Reserve (United Republic of Tanzania) 23-30 November 2008," (UNESCO World Heritage Centre; IUCN), 17.
- 199. "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward," 375. "Determining Trends in Global Crime and Justice: An Overview of Results from the United Nations Surveys of Crime Trends and Operations of Criminal Justice Systems," 56.
- 200. "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward," 371.
- 201. al., "Determining Trends in Global Crime and Justice: An Overview of Results from the United Nations Surveys of Crime Trends and Operations of Criminal Justice Systems."
- 202. "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward," 378.
- 203. "International Consortium on Combating Wildlife Crime (Iccwc)."
- 204. "Drug Enforcement Administration: Fy 2016 Performance Budget -Congressional Submission," ed. DEA.
- 205. "Slowing Amazon Deforestation through Public Policy and Interventions in Beef and Soy Supply Chains," [- 2014/06/05.] Science 344, no. 6188.
- 206. "Implementing Prevention and Control Policies for Reducing Deforestation,"http://mitigationpartnership.net/gpa/implementing-prevention-and-control-policies-reducing-deforestation.
- 207. "Stopping Deforestation: Battle for the Amazon," Nature 520, no. 7545.
- 208. "Three Essential Strategies for Reducing Deforestation,"http:// whrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/WHRC_3Strat_ UNFCCC.07.pdf.

- 209. UNEP Ozone Secretariat letter to UNEP Rapid Response Unit, 24 May 2016.
- 210. "Transnational Organized Crime in East Asia and the Pacific: A Threat Assessment," chapter 10.
- 211. "Waste Crime Waste Risks: Gaps in Meeting the Global Waste Challenge."
- 212. "Developing the Science of Reintroduction Biology," Conservation Biology 21, no. 2.
- "From Reintroduction to Assisted Colonization: Moving Along the Conservation Translocation Spectrum," Restoration Ecology 18, no. 6.
- 214. "New Guidelines on Conservation Translocations Published by Iucn,"http://www.iucn.org/news_homepage/news_by_date/?i3377/ New-Guidelines-on-conservation-translocations-published-by-IUCN.
- 215. "Effectiveness of Multiple Release Sites in Reintroduction of Persian Fallow Deer," Conservation Biology 26, no. 1.
- 216. "Translocation as a Species Conservation Tool: Status and Strategy," [- 1989/08/04.] Science - 245, no. - 4917.
- 217. "Past, Present and Future Conservation of the Greater One-Horned Rhinoceros Rhinoceros Unicornis in Nepal," Oryx 47, no. 03.
- 218. "The Greater One-Horned Rhinoceros Conservation Action Plan for Nepal (2006-2011)," (Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation).
- 219. "Creativity for Peace-Building through Tourism in Nepal Tourism Amidst Armed Conflict: Consequences, Copings, and Creativity for Peace-Building through Tourism in Nepal," The Journal of Tourism and Peace Research I, no. 2.
- 220. "Iucn Reports Deepening Rhino Poaching Crisis in Africa."
- 221. "Golden Lion Tamarin Conservation Program: In the Wild Current Status,"http://nationalzoo.si.edu/SCBI/EndangeredSpecies/ GLTProgram/InWild/CurrentStatus.cfm.

- 222. "Leontopithecus Rosalia," IUCN Red List, http://www.iucnredlist. org/details/11506/0.
- 223. "Press Release: New Census of Wild Glt Population,"http://savetheliontamarin.org/news/2014/10/8/press-release-new-census-ofwild-glt-population.html.
- 224. "Re-Assessing the Status and Conservation of the Golden Lion Tamarin Leontopithecus Rosalia in the Wild," Journal Of The Wildlife Preservation Trusts 32.
- 225. "Devastating Decline of Forest Elephants in Central Africa."
- 226. "100,000 Elephants Killed by Poachers in Just Three Years, Landmark Analysis Finds."
- 227. "Chobe National Park,"http://www.chobenationalpark.com.
- 228. "Elephants of South-East Angola in War and Peace: Their Decline, Re-Colonization and Recent Status," African Journal of Ecology 49, no. 3.
- 229. Ibid.
- 230. "African Elephants (Loxodonta Africana) Can Detect Tht Using Olfaction: Implications for Biosensor Application," Applied Animal Behaviour Science 171.
- 231. "Recovery of Large Carnivores in Europe's Modern Human-Dominated Landscapes," [- 2014/12/18.] Science - 346, no. - 6216.
- 232. "Status, Management and Distribution of Large Carnivores— Bear, Lynx, Wolf and Wolverine—in Europe " in Report to the EU Commission, Part 1 and Part 2.
- 233. Ibid.
- 234. "The near Extinction and Recovery of Brown Bears in Scandinavia in Relation to the Bear Management Policies of Norway and Sweden," Wildlife Biology 1, no. 1.
- 235. "- National Parks in Northern Sweden as Refuges for Illegal Killing of Large Carnivores."

References

- (ILO), International Labour Office. "Profits and Poverty: The Economics of Forced Labour." Geneva: ILO, 2014.
- Administration, U.S. Department of Justice: Drug Enforcement. "Drug Enforcement Administration: Fy 2016 Performance Budget - Congressional Submission." edited by DEA, 2016.
- Aigbedion, I and Iyayi, S. E. "Environmental Effect of Mineral Exploitation in Nigeria." International Journal of Physical Sciences 2, no. 2 (14 February 2007): 033-38.
- al., Christian Nellemann et. "The Environmental Food Crisis: The Environment's Role in Averting Future Food Crisis." In A UNEP Rapid Response Assessment. GRID-Arendal: UNEP, 2009.
- al., Earth Alliance et. "Three Essential Strategies for Reducing Deforestation." http://whrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/WHRC_3Strat_ UNFCCC.07.pdf.
- al., Mark Shaw et. "Determining Trends in Global Crime and Justice: An Overview of Results from the United Nations Surveys of Crime Trends and Operations of Criminal Justice Systems." Forum on Crime and Society 3, no. 1 and 2 (2003): 35-63.

Arnold van Kreveld, Ingrid Roerhorst. "Great Apes and Logging ": WWF.

- Assembly, UN General. "General Assembly Adopts Two Wide-Ranging Resolutions Aimed at Strengthening World's Legal Regime for Oceans; Protecting Fisheries, Marine Ecosystems Ga/10899." http://www.un. .org/press/en/2009/ga10899.doc.htm.
- Atwood, David. "Under the Gun: Can a Global Treaty Regulate Small Arms Trade?". IHS Jane's Intelligence Review (March 2013).
- Ayling, Julie. "What Sustains Wildlife Crime? Rhino Horn Trading and the Resilience of Criminal Networks." Journal of International Wildlife Law & Policy 16, no. 1 (2013): 57 - 80.
- Balde, C.P., Wang, F., Kuehr, R., Huisman, J. . "The Global E-Waste Monitor – 2014." Bonn, Germany: United Nations University; IAS-SCU-CLE, 2015.
- Bank, The World. "Global Economic Prospects 2016: Spillovers Amid Weak Growth." http://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/global-economic-prospects.
- Bank, World. "Sustaining Economic Growth, Rural Livelihoods, and Environmental Benefits: Strategic Options for Forest Assistance in Indonesia ". Washington DC, 2006.
- ------. "Total Tax Rate (% of Commercial Profits)." http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IC.TAX.TOTL.CP.ZS/countries?display=graph.
- Berger-Tal, Oded, Shirli Bar-David, and David Saltz. "Effectiveness of Multiple Release Sites in Reintroduction of Persian Fallow Deer." Conservation Biology 26, no. 1 (February 2012): 107-15.
- Bowen-Jones, E., D. Brown, and E. J. Z. Robinson. "Economic Commodity or Environmental Crisis? An Interdisciplinary Approach to Analysing the Bushmeat Trade in Central and West Africa." 35, no. 4 (2003): 390 - 402.
- Brennan, A. J., and J. K. Kalsi. "Elephant Poaching & Ivory Trafficking Problems in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Application of O'hara's Principles of Political Economy." [In English]. Ecological Economics 120 (Dec 2015): 312-37.
- Britaldo Soares-Filho, Raoni Rajão, Frank Merry, Hermann Rodrigues, Juliana Davis, Letícia Lima, Marcia Macedo, Michael Coe, Arnaldo Carneiro, Leonardo Santiago. "Brazil's Market for Trading Forest Certificates." Plos One 11, no. 4 (06 April 2016).
- Challender, Daniel W. S., and Douglas C. MacMillan. "Poaching Is More Than an Enforcement Problem." Conservation Letters 7, no. 5 (Sep-Oct 2014): 484-94.

Change, World Bank Group: Climate. "State and Trends of Carbon Pricing." Washington DC: World Bank; Ecofys, 2015.

Chapron, Guillaume, Petra Kaczensky, John D. C. Linnell, Manuela von

Arx, Djuro Huber, Henrik Andrén, José Vicente López-Bao, et al. "Recovery of Large Carnivores in Europe's Modern Human-Dominated Landscapes." Science - 346, no. - 6216 (2014): - 1519.

- Chase, Michael J., and Curtice R. Griffin. "Elephants of South-East Angola in War and Peace: Their Decline, Re-Colonization and Recent Status." African Journal of Ecology 49, no. 3 (2011): 353 - 61.
- Chen, F. "Poachers and Snobs: Demand for Rarity and the Effects of Antipoaching Policies." [In English]. Conservation Letters 9, no. 1 (Jan-Feb 2016): 65-69.

"Chobe National Park." http://www.chobenationalpark.com/.

- Christy, Bryan. "How Killing Elephants Finances Terror in Africa." National Geographic, 12 August 2015.
- CITES. "African Elephant." https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/african_elephant.html.
- ------. "Asian Elephant." https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/asianelephant.html.
- ———. "Consideration of Proposals for Amendment of Appendices I and Ii: Pterocarpus Erinaceus." 2016.
- . "Increasing Attention on Illegal Trade in Wildlife a Visual Summary of Key Events and Measures since 2012." 2016.
- -------. "International Consortium on Combating Wildlife Crime (Iccwc)."

- ------. "White Rhino." https://cites.org/eng/gallery/species/mammal/ white_rhino.html.
- ------. "The Wildlife and Forest Crime Analytic Toolkit." https://cites. org/eng/prog/iccwc.php/Tools.
- Columbia, MRAG and University British. "The Global Extent of Illegal Fishing." Fisheries Ecosystems Restoration Research, Fisheries Centre, University of British Coloumbia; MRAG, 2008.

Commission, European. "Environmental Crime."

- Commission, IUCN; Species Survival. "Provisional African Elephant Population Estimates: Update to 31 Dec 2013: Continental Totals Africa." http://www.elephantdatabase.org/preview_report/2013_africa_final/2013/Africa
- Coning, Eve De. "Fisheries Crime." In Handbook of Transnational Environmental Crime, edited by L. Elliott, Scheadla, W.H. London: Edward Elgar Publishing 2016 (forthcoming).
- Costanza, Robert, Rudolf de Groot, Paul Sutton, Sander van der Ploeg, Sharolyn J. Anderson, Ida Kubiszewski, Stephen Farber, and R. Kerry Turner. "Changes in the Global Value of Ecosystem Services." Global Environmental Change 26, no. - (May 2014): 152 - 58.
- Cremona, Neville Ash; Bianca Notarbartolo di Sciara; Nalini Sharma; Satu Glaser; Kelly Malsch; Patricia. "Analysis of the Environmental Impacts of Illegal Trade in Wildlife." 2016.
- Crime, Global Initiative against Transnational Organized. "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America ", 2016.
- Daniel W. S. Challender, Carly Waterman, Jonathan E. M. Baillie. "Scaling up Pangolin Conservation " In IUCN SSC Pangolin Specialist Group Conservation Action Plan. Zoological Society of London, UK IUCN SSC Pangolin specialist group, 2014.

David J. Agnew, John Pearce, Ganapathiraju Pramod, Tom Peatman, Reg

Watson, John R. Beddington, Tony J. Pitcher. "Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing." Plos One 4, no. 2 (2009).

Department of Environmental Affairs, Republic of South Africa. "Minister Edna Molewa Highlights Progress in the War against Poaching." news release, 10 May 2015, 2015, https://www.environment.gov.za/ mediarelease/molewa_onwaragainstpoaching.

———. "Rhino Poaching Statistics Update." https://www.environment. gov.za/projectsprogrammes/rhinodialogues/poaching_statistics.

- Division, UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs: Population. "World Population Prospects, the 2015 Revision." http://esa.un.org/ unpd/wpp/DataQuery/.
- Duffy, Rosaleen, Freya A. V. St John, Bram Buscher, and Dan Brockington. "Toward a New Understanding of the Links between Poverty and Illegal Wildlife Hunting." Conservation Biology 30, no. 1 (Feb 2016): 14-22.
- Eve De Coning, Emma Witbooi "Towards a New Fisheries Crime Paradigm." Marine Policy 60 (October 2015): 208-15.
- FAO, UN. "Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015." http://www.fao. org/3/a-i4808e.pdf.

. "State of the World Fishing and Aquaculture 2014." 2014.

- Fiona Maisels, Samantha Strindberg, Stephen Blake, George Wittemyer, John Hart, Elizabeth A. Williamson, Rostand Aba'a, Gaspard Abitsi, Ruffin D. Ambahe, Fidèl Amsini, Parfait C. Bakabana, Thurston Cleveland Hicks, Rosine E. Bayogo, Martha Bechem, Rene L. Beyers, Anicet N. Bezangoye, Patrick Boundja, Nicolas Bout, Marc Ella Akou, Lambert Bene Bene, Bernard Fosso, Elizabeth Greengrass, Falk Grossmann, Clement Ikamba-Nkulu, Omari Ilambu, Bila-Isia Inogwabini, Fortune Ivenguet, Franck Kiminou, Max Kokangoye, Deo Kujirakwinja, Stephanie Latour, Innocent Liengola, Quevain Mackaya, Jacob Madidi, Bola Madzoke, Calixte Makoumbou, Guy-Aimé Malanda, Richard Malonga, Olivier Mbani, Valentin A. Mbendzo, Edgar Ambassa, Albert Ekinde, Yves Mihindou, Bethan J. Morgan, Prosper Motsaba, Gabin Moukala, Anselme Mounguengui, Brice S. Mowawa, Christian Ndzai, Stuart Nixon, Pele Nkumu, Fabian Nzolani, Lilian Pintea, Andrew Plumptre, Hugo Rainey, Bruno Bokoto de Semboli. "Devastating Decline of Forest Elephants in Central Africa." Plos One 8, no. 3 (04 March 2013).
- Fund, Tanzania Wildlife Protection. "About Tanzania Wildlife Protection Fund (Twpf)." http://www.twpf.go.tz/about/category/overview.
- Gastrow, Peter. "Termites at Work: Transnational Organized Crime and State Erosion in Kenya." In IPI Policy Papers and Issue Briefs, edited by Adam Lupel and Marie O'Reilly. New York: International Peace Institute, 2011.
- George Wittemyera, Joseph M. Northrupa, Julian Blancd, Iain Douglas-Hamiltonb,e, Patrick Omondif, and Kenneth P. Burnham. "Illegal Killing for Ivory Drives Global Decline in African Elephants." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, no. 36 (09 September 2014): 13117-21.
- Germany, WWF. "Wwf-D Charges against Retailers: Pr and Background Information Eu Timber Regulation." WWF Deutschland, 2015.
- Gratwicke, B., J. Mills, A. Dutton, G. Gabriel, B. Long, J. Seidensticker, B. Wright, W. You, and L. Zhang. "Attitudes toward Consumption and Conservation of Tigers in China." [In English]. Plos One 3, no. 7 (Jul 2008): 7.
- GRID-Arendal, Zoï Environment Network;. Environmental Crimes. Zoi Environment. https://issuu.com/zoienvironment/docs/environmental-crimes-ebook.
- Griffith, Brad, J. Michael Scott, James W. Carpenter, and Christine Reed. "Translocation as a Species Conservation Tool: Status and Strategy." Science - 245, no. - 4917 (04 August 1989): 477 - 80.

Haken, Jeremy. "Transnational Crime in the Developing World." Global

Financial Integrity, 2011.

- Hansen-Lewis, J; Shapiro, J.N. . "Understanding the Daesh Economy." Perspectives on Terrorism 9, no. 4 (2015): 142-55.
- Harrison, Mariel, Julia Baker, Medard Twinamatsiko, and E. J. Milner-Gulland. "Profiling Unauthorized Natural Resource Users for Better Targeting of Conservation Interventions." Conservation Biology 29, no. 6 (Dec 2015): 1636-46.

Hübschle, Annette Michaela. "A Game of Horns: Transnational Flows of Rhino Horn." In Studies on the Social and Political Constitution of the Economy. Cologne: International Max Planck research schoool, 2016.

INTERPOL. "Environmental Crime." http://www.interpol.int/Crime-areas/Environmental-crime/Environmental-crime

. "Interpol Operations Target Illegal Timber Trade in Africa and the Americas." news release, 26 November 2015, 2015, http://www. interpol.int/en/Internet/News-and-media/News/2015/N2015-206

———. "Media Release: Interpol Warns Carbon Trading at Increased Risk of Criminal Exploitation." http://www.interpol.int/en/News-andmedia/News/2013/PR090/.

———. "Resolution No.3: Ag-2014-Res-03: Interpol Response to Emerging Threats in Environmental Security." 2014.

Interpol, Europol -. "Migrant Smuggling Networks." 2016.

Interpol, UNEP;. "The Environmental Crime Crisis." In A Rapid Response Assessment, edited by Christian Nellemann. Nairobi and Arendal: GRID Arendal; UNEP 2014.

———. "Green Carbon, Black Trade: Illegal Logging, Tax Fraud and Laundering in the Worlds Tropical Forests." In A Rapid Response Assessment. GRID-Arendal: United Nations Environment Programme, 2012.

- IUCN. "Declaration on the Environmental Rule of Law: Outcome of the 1st Iucn World Environmental Law Congress." Paper presented at the IUCN World Environmental Law Congress, Rio de Janeiro, 17 May 2016 2016.

page/?22519/IUCN-reports-deepening-rhino-poaching-crisis-in-Africa. ——. "Leontopithecus Rosalia." IUCN Red List, http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/11506/0.

———. "New Guidelines on Conservation Translocations Published by Iucn." http://www.iucn.org/news_homepage/news_by_date/?13377/ New-Guidelines-on-conservation-translocations-published-by-IUCN.

Committee on Foreign Relations, U.S. Senate. Ivory and Insecurity: The Global Implications of Poaching in Africa: Testimony of Iain Douglas-Hamilton Founder and Ceo, Save the Elephants 24 May 2012.

John, Rosaleen Duffy and Freya A.V. St. "Poverty, Poaching and Trafficking: What Are the Links?" In Evidence on Demand Evidence on Demand, 2013.

Jon E Swenson, Petter Wabakken, Finn Sandegren, Anders Bjärvall, Robert Franzen, Arne Söderberg. "The near Extinction and Recovery of Brown Bears in Scandinavia in Relation to the Bear Management Policies of Norway and Sweden." Wildlife Biology 1, no. 1 (1995): 11-25.

- Jonsson, Pia. "Cites and Pangolins." In First Pangolin Range States workshop. Da Nang, Viet Nam, 2015.
- Kideghesho, Jafari R. "The Elephant Poaching Crisis in Tanzania: A Need to Reverse the Trend and the Way Forward." Tropical Conservation Science 9, no. 1 (2016): 369-88.

------. "Reversing the Trend of Wildlife Crime in Tanzania: Challenges and Opportunities." Biodiversity and Conservation 25, no. 3 (Mar 2016): 427-49. Knapp, Eli J. "Why Poaching Pays: A Summary of Risks and Benefits Illegal Hunters Face in Western Serengeti, Tanzania." Tropical Conservation Science 5, no. 4 (2012 2012): 434-45.

Krutilla, John V. "Conservation Reconsidered." The American Economic Review 57, no. 4 (September 1967): 777-86.

Lindsey, P. A., G. Balme, M. Becker, C. Begg, C. Bento, C. Bocchino, A. Dickman, et al. "The Bushmeat Trade in African Savannas: Impacts, Drivers, and Possible Solutions." [In English]. Biological Conservation 160 (Apr 2013): 80-96.

List, IUCN Red. "Asian Elephant: Elephas Maximus." http://support.iucnredlist.org/species/asian-elephant.

———. "Ceratotherium Simum (Northern White Rhinoceros, Square-Lipped Rhinoceros, White Rhinoceros)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/ details/4185/0.

———. "Dicerorhinus Sumatrensis (Sumatran Rhinoceros)." http:// www.iucnredlist.org/details/6553/0.

——. "Diceros Bicornis (Black Rhinoceros, Hook-Lipped Rhinoceros)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/6557/0

——. "Rhinoceros Unicornis (Greater One-Horned Rhino, Great Indian Rhinoceros, Indian Rhinoceros)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/ details/19496/0.

Luke Brander, Erik Gómez-Baggethun, Berta Martín-López, Madhu Verma et al. . "Chapter 5: The Economics of Valuing Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity." In The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: The Ecological and Economic Foundations, edited by Roldan Muradian Unai Pascual, 2010.

Luttrell, Cecilia, Krystof Obidzinski, Maria Brockhaus, Efrian Muharrom, Elena Petkova, Andrew Wardell, and James Halperin. "Lessons for Redd+ from Measures to Control Illegal Logging in Indonesia." In Working paper 74: UNODC; CIFOR, 2011.

Magrath, Marilyne Pereira Goncalves; Melissa Panjer; Theodore S. Greenberg; William B. "Justice for Forests: Improving Criminal Justice Efforts to Combat Illegal Logging ". Washington DC: World Bank, 2012.

Mark Shaw, Tuesday Reitano. "The Evolution of Organized Crime in Africa: Towards a New Response." Institute for Security Studies 244 (2013).

Medard Twinamatsiko, Julia Baker, Mariel Harrison, Mahboobeh Shirkhorshidi, Robert Bitariho, Michelle Wieland, Stephen Asuma, E.J. Milner-Gulland, Phil Franks, Dilys Roe. "Linking Conservation, Equity and Poverty Alleviation: Understanding Profiles and Motivations of Resource Users and Local Perceptions of Governance at Bwindi Impenetrable National Park, Uganda." London: International Institute for Environment and Development 2014.

Miller, Ashadee Kay, Michael C. Hensman, Sean Hensman, Kip Schultz, Paul Reid, Mike Shore, Jessica Brown, Kenneth G. Furton, and Stephen Lee. "African Elephants (Loxodonta Africana) Can Detect Tht Using Olfaction: Implications for Biosensor Application." Applied Animal Behaviour Science 171 (2015): 177 - 83.

Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente (Spain). "La Resolución Del Expediente De La Operación Sparrow Sanciona a 9 Empresas Y 7 Personas Físicas Por Su Implicación En La Actividad De Buques Que Han Incurrido En Pesca Ilegal." news release, 17 March 2016, 2016, http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/prensa/noticias/la-resolución-del-expediente-de-la-operación-sparrow-sanciona-a-9-empresas-y-7-personas-f%C3%AD-sicas-por-su-implicación-en-la-actividad-de--buques-qu/tcm7-415229-16.

Minstry of Natural Resources and Tourism, United Republic of Tanzania. "A Performance Audit Report on the Management of Wildlife in Game Reserves and Game Controlled Areas", 2013.

Montesh, Moses. "Rhino Poaching: A New Form of Organised Crime." Report to College of Law Research and Innovation Committee of the University of South Africa: College of Law, UNISA, 2012.

MRV, International Partnership on Mitigation and. "Implementing Pre-

vention and Control Policies for Reducing Deforestation." http://mitigationpartnership.net/gpa/implementing-prevention-and-control-policies-reducing-deforestation.

Mtoni, Jafari R Kideghesho and Paul E. "The Potentials for Co-Management Approaches in Western Serengeti, Tanzania." Tropical Conservation Science 1, no. 4 (2008): 334-58.

Nepstad, Daniel, David McGrath, Claudia Stickler, Ane Alencar, Andrea Azevedo, Briana Swette, Tathiana Bezerra, et al. "Slowing Amazon Deforestation through Public Policy and Interventions in Beef and Soy Supply Chains." Science 344, no. 6188 (2014): 1118 - 23.

Noorden, Richard Van. "Worst Year Ever for Rhino Poaching in Africa." Nature (2016). Published electronically 25 January 2016. http:// www.nature.com/news/worst-year-ever-for-rhino-poaching-in-africa-1.19225.

Obidzinski, K., and Dermawan, A. "Smallholder Timber Plantation Development in Indonesia: What Is Preventing Progress?". International Forestry Review 12, no. 4 (2010): 339-48.

OECD. "Illegal Trade in Environmentally Sensitive Goods." In OECD Trade Policy Studies, 2012.

———. "Illegal Trade in Environmentally Sensitive Goods: Executive Summary." 2012.

Oliveira, M. C. M. Kierulff; P.P. De. "Re-Assessing the Status and Conservation of the Golden Lion Tamarin Leontopithecus Rosalia in the Wild." Journal Of The Wildlife Preservation Trusts 32 (January 1996): 98-115.

Pardie, Gavin Hilson; Christopher J. Hilson; Sandra. "Improving Awareness of Mercury Pollution in Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities: Challenges and Ways Forward in Rural Ghana." Environmental Research 103, no. 2 (February 2007 2007): 275-87.

Park, Chitwan National. "Rhino Population Up." http://www.chitwannationalpark.gov.np/index.php/highlights/15-rhino-population-up

Park, Kaziranga National. "Rhino Poaching Deaths in Kaziringa National Park 2006 to 2015." http://kaziranga.assam.gov.in/wp/rhino-poaching-summary/

. "Rhino Population Estimation 2015." http://kaziranga.assam. gov.in/wp/wiki/rhino-population-estimation-2015/.

Park, Smithsonian National Zoological. "Golden Lion Tamarin Conservation Program: In the Wild Current Status." http://nationalzoo.si.edu/ SCBI/EndangeredSpecies/GLTProgram/InWild/CurrentStatus.cfm.

Parliament, European. "Directive 2008/99/Ec of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on the Protection of the Environment through Criminal Law (Text with Eea Relevance)." 2008.

partnership, Combined Maritime Forces: A 31-nation naval. "French Ship Provence Seizes Large Weapons Cache." https://combinedmaritimeforces.com/2016/03/28/french-ship-provence-seizes-large-weapons-cache/.

Paul N. Nelson, Jennifer Gabriel, Colin Filer, Murom Banabas, Jeffrey A. Sayer, George N. Curry, Gina Koczberski and Oscar Venter. "Oil Palm and Deforestation in Papua New Guinea." Conservation Letters 7, no. 3 (May/June 2014): 188-95.

Petra Kaczensky, Guillaume Chapron, Manuela von Arx, Djuro Huber, Henrik Andrén, and John, and Linnell. "Status, Management and Distribution of Large Carnivores—Bear, Lynx, Wolf and Wolverine—in Europe "In Report to the EU Commission, Part 1 and Part 2, 2012.

PJ, Seddon, Armstrong DP, and Maloney RF. "Developing the Science of Reintroduction Biology." [In - eng]. Conservation Biology 21, no. 2 (April 2007): 303-12.

Priya Davidar, Clément Rosset, Pratheesh Chacko Mammen, Jean Philippe Puyravaud, Rajeev Srivastava, Belinda Wright. "Mortality Records (1979–2011) Shed Light on Threats to Asian Elephants Elephas Maximus Linnaeus, 1758 (Mammalia: Proboscidea: Elephantidae) in Nilgiris, Southern India." Journal of Threatened Taxa 7, no. 8 (2015).

- Programme, INTERPOL Environmental Crime. "Guide to Carbon Trading Crime." 2013.
- Rauset, Geir Rune, Henrik Andrén, Jon E. Swenson, Gustaf Samelius, Peter Segerström, Andreas Zedrosser, and Jens Persson. "- National Parks in Northern Sweden as Refuges for Illegal Killing of Large Carnivores." (2016): - n/a.
- Redlist, IUCN. "Manis Crassicaudata (Indian Pangolin, Thick-Tailed Pangolin)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/12761/0.
- ———. "Manis Culionensis (Philippine Pangolin)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/136497/0.
- ———. "Manis Javanica (Malayan Pangolin, Sunda Pangolin)." http:// www.iucnredlist.org/details/12763/0.
- ———. "Manis Pentadactyla (Chinese Pangolin)." http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/12764/0.
- Reuters. "Australian Navy Says Seizes Huge Weapons Cache Headed for Somalia." http://www.reuters.com/article/us-somalia-security-idUSK-CN0W918C.
- Rhino, Save the. "Rhino Population Figures." https://www.savetherhino. org/rhino_info/rhino_population_figures.
- Robert Costanza, Ralph d'Arge, Rudolf de Groot, Stephen Farberk, Monica Grasso, Bruce Hannon, Karin Limburg, Shahid Naeem, Robert V. O'Neill, Jose Paruelo, Robert G. Raskin, Paul Suttonkk & Marjan van den Belt. "The Value of the World's Ecosystem Services and Natural Capital." Nature 387 (15 May 1997): 253-60.
- Rosen, Carla Humud; Robert Pirog; Liana. "Islamic State Financing and U.S. Policy Approaches." Congressional Research Service, 2015.
- Sage, Andre Le. "Nonstate Security Threats in Africa: Challenges for U.S. Engagement ". Prism 2, no. 1 (2010): 57-78.
- Scanlon, John. "Cites and Wildlife Trade How Cites Works and What It Is and What Isn't." Ilia State University, Tbilisi, 2015.
- ———. "Cites Cop16, Bangkok 2013: A 'Watershed Moment' for Combating Wildlife Crime." Natural Resources Policy & Practice (15 April 2013 2013).
- Scanlon, John E. "Addressing the Nexus between Illegal Wildlife and Forestry Trade and Corruption." In Corruption and illegal trade in wildlife-6th Session of the Conference of the Parties to the UN Convention Against Corruption (UNODC Special High-level Event). St Petersburg, 2015.
- Scanlon, Yury Fedotov; John E. "Wildlife Crime Ranks among Trafficking in Drugs, Arms and Humans: An Economic Crime Perpetrated by Criminal Syndicates in the Most Remote Regions, Exploiting Local People and Lax Laws." https://cites.org/eng/news/sg/2013/20130926_ wildlife_crime.php.
- Scriber, Brad. "100,000 Elephants Killed by Poachers in Just Three Years, Landmark Analysis Finds." National Geographic, 18 August 2014.
- Secretariat of the Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions. "International Trade Control Measures under the Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions ", edited by FAO UNEP, Basel Convention, Rotterdam Convention, Convention de Stockholm, 2015.
- Secretariat, UNEP Ozone. "Synthesis of the 2014 Reports of the Scientific Environmental Effects, and Technology & Economic Assessment Panels of the Montreal Protocol ": UNEP, 2015.
- Seddon, Philip J. "From Reintroduction to Assisted Colonization: Moving Along the Conservation Translocation Spectrum." Restoration Ecology 18, no. 6 (November 2010): 796 - 802.
- Shapiro, Mark. "Conning the Climate." Harper's Magazine, 2010.
- Sheikh, Liana Sun Wyler; Pervaze A. "International Illegal Trade in Wildlife Threats and U.S. Policy." Congressional Research Service, 2008.
- Shelley, Louise. "Unraveling the New Criminal Nexus." Georgetown Journal of International Affairs 6, no. 1 (2005): 5-13.
- Shepherd, Chris R., Ellen Connelly, Lisa Hywood, and Phillip Cassey. "Taking a Stand against Illegal Wildlife Trade: The Zimbabwean Approach to Pangolin Conservation." Oryx FirstView (2016): 1-6.

Standing, André. "Corruption and State-Corporate Crime

- in Fisheries." edited by Aled Williams and Kendra Dupuy: Christian Michelsen Institute, 2015.
- Stiles, Daniel. "Analysis of Ivory Demand Drivers." Wildlifenews.co.uk, 2015.
- ———. "Opinion: Can Elephants Survive a Continued Ivory Trade Ban." National Geographic, 15 September 2014 2014.
- Sugiharto. "Mimpi Dengan Dua Juta Hektar." AgroIndonesia, 30 Jan 05 Feb 2007.
- Survey, Small Arms. Small Arms Survey 2012: Moving Targets. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- Tamarin, Save the Golden Lion. "Press Release: New Census of Wild Glt Population." http://savetheliontamarin.org/news/2014/10/8/pressrelease-new-census-of-wild-glt-population.html.
- TEEB, UNEP. "The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A Synthesis of the Approach, Conclusions and Recommendations of Teeb.". (2010).
- Thapa, Kanchan, Santosh Nepal, Gokarna Thapa, Shiv Raj Bhatta, and Eric Wikramanayake. "Past, Present and Future Conservation of the Greater One-Horned Rhinoceros Rhinoceros Unicornis in Nepal." Oryx 47, no. 03 (2013): 345 - 51.
- Tollefson, Jeff. "Stopping Deforestation: Battle for the Amazon." Nature 520, no. 7545 (01 April 2015).
- TRAFFIC. "Traffic's Engagement on African Rhinoceros Conservation and the Global Trade in Rhinoceros Horn." http://www.traffic.org/rhinos/.
- UNEP. "1st Africa Colloquium on Environmental Rule of Law ("Nairobi Statement")." edited by UNEP, 2015.
- ------. "Decisions Adopted by the Governing Council/Global Ministerial Environment Forum at Its First Universal Session." edited by UNEP, 2013.
- -------. "Environmental Rule of Law: Critical to Sustainable Development." In Issue Brief, 2015.
- ———. "Healthy Environment, Healthy People: Thematic Report Ministerial Policy Review Session Second Session of the United Nations Environment Assembly of the United Nations Environment Programme Nairobi, 23–27 May 2016." UNEP, 2016.
- "". "Resolutions and Decisions Adopted by the United Nations Environment Assembly of the United Nations Environment Programme at Its First Session on 27 June 2014." edited by UNEP, 2014.

———. "Towards a Green Economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication." 2011.

- UNEP, CITES, IUCN, TRAFFIC. "Elephants in the Dust: The African Elephant Crisis." In A Rapid Response Assessment edited by Christian Nellemann: GRID-Arendal, 2013.
- UNEP, Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Board;. Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing: A Report of the Conceptual Framework Working Group of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. London: Island Press, 2003.
- UNODC. "Environmental Crime the Trafficking of Wildlife and Timber." In FACTS, 2012.
- ———. "The Global Afghan Opium Trade: A Threat Assessment." Vienna, 2011.

——. "The Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime." In Focus on, no date.

. "Organized Crime." https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/organized-crime/index.html.

———. "Transnational Organized Crime in East Asia and the Pacific: A Threat Assessment." 2013.

———. "Transnational Organized Crime in the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking." In Focus on: Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drugs Trafficking. Vienna, 2011.

———. "Wildlife and Forest Crime Overview." https://www.unodc.org/ unodc/en/wildlife-and-forest-crime/overview.html.

———. "World Drug Report 2005: Volume 1 Analysis." UNODC, 2005.

——. "World Drug Report 2011." New York: UNODC, 2011.

. "World Wildlife Crime Report: Trafficking in Protected Species ". Vienna, 2016.

UNSC. "Resolution 2195 (2014)." United Nations Security Council, http:// www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/2195%20 (2014).

. "Statement by the President of the Security Council S/Prst/2016/2 31 March 2016." UN Security Council, 2016.

Upadhayaya, Pranil Kumar, Ulrike Müller-Böker, and Sagar Raj Sharma. "Creativity for Peace-Building through Tourism in Nepal Tourism Amidst Armed Conflict: Consequences, Copings, and Creativity for Peace-Building through Tourism in Nepal." The Journal of Tourism and Peace Research 1, no. 2 (2011): 22-40.

- Vedeld, P., A. Jumane, G. Wapalila, and A. Songorwa. "Protected Areas, Poverty and Conflicts a Livelihood Case Study of Mikumi National Park, Tanzania." [In English]. Forest Policy and Economics 21 (Aug 2012): 20-31.
- Vincent Nijman, Ming Xia Zhang, Chris R. Shepherd. "Pangolin Trade in the Mong La Wildlife Market and the Role of Myanmar in the Smuggling of Pangolins in China." Global Ecology and Conservation, no. 5 (2016): 118-26.
- Williams, Phil. "Crime, Illicit Markets, and Money Laundering." In Managing Global Issues: Lessons Learned, edited by P.J. Simmons; Chantal de Jonge Qudraat. Washington DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2001.
- Wilson, Guy Debonnet; Ed. "Mission Report: Reactive Monitoring Mission Selous Game Reserve (United Republic of Tanzania) 23-30 November 2008." UNESCO World Heritage Centre; IUCN, 2008.
- WWF. "Asian Rhinos." http://wwf.panda.org/what_we_do/endangered_ species/rhinoceros/asian_rhinos/.
- WWF, Government of Nepal;. "The Greater One-Horned Rhinoceros Conservation Action Plan for Nepal (2006-2011)." Department of National Parks and Wildlife Conservation, 2006.
- Zhao-Min Zhou, Youbing Zhou, Chris Newman, David W Macdonald. "Scaling up Pangolin Protection in China." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 12, no. 2 (March 2014): 91-144.

www.unep.org

A WEEK

United Nations Environment Programme P.O. Box 30552 - 00100 Nairobi, Kenya Tel.: +254 20 762 1234 Fax: +254 20 762 3927 e-mail: uneppub@unep.org www.unep.org



To altern

~1